
REGULAR MEETING* 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

EILEEN DONDERO FOLEY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, 1 JUNKINS AVENUE 

PORTSMOUTH, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 

Members of the public also have the option to join the meeting over Zoom  
(See below for more details)* 

 
 

7:00 P.M.                                                        April 18, 2023 
                                                                 

AGENDA 
 

 
I. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

 
A. Approval of the March 21, 2023 minutes. 

 
B. Approval of the March 29, 2023 minutes. 

 
 

II. OLD BUSINESS 
 

A. The request of 635 Sagamore Development LLC (Owner), for property located at 635 
Sagamore Avenue whereas relief is needed to remove existing structures and construct 
4 single family dwellings which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 
10.513 to allow four free-standing dwellings where one is permitted. 2) A Variance 
from Section 10.521 to allow a lot area per dwelling unit of 21,198 square feet per 
dwelling where 43,560 square feet is required. Said property is located on Assessor 
Map 222 Lot 19 and lies within the Single Residence A (SRA) District. (LU-22-209)  
 

B. The rehearing of the request of Jeffrey M. and Melissa Foy (Owners), for property 
located at 67 Ridges Court whereas relief is needed for construction of a 518 square 
foot garage addition and expansion of front dormer which requires the following: 1) A 
variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 14 foot front yard where 19 feet is required per 
Section 10.516.10. 2) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming 
building or structure to be extended, reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to 

PLEASE NOTE: DUE TO THE LARGE VOLUME OF AGENDA ITEMS SCHEDULED 
FOR APRIL 18, 2023, THE BOARD WILL BE VOTING TO POSTPONE 

CONSIDERATION OF OLD BUSINESS ITEMS (II.) G. THROUGH NEW BUSINESS 
ITEM (III.) G. TO THE APRIL 25, 2023 BOARD OF ADJUSMENT MEETING. 

 



Agenda, Board of Adjustment Meeting, April 18, 2023 Page 2 

the requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 207 Lot 
59 and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-22-199)  
 

C. The request of Michael Knight (Owner), for property located at 55 Mangrove Street 
whereas relief is needed to replace existing 6 foot chain link fence with 8 foot cedar 
fence which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.515.13 to allow an 8 
foot fence on the rear and side lot lines where a 6 foot maximum is allowed. Said 
property is located on Assessor Map 219 Lot 7 and lies within the Single Residence B 
(SRB) District. (LU-23-15)  
 

D. The request of John T McDonald III and Mary R McDonald (Owners), for property 
located at 74 Sunset Road whereas relief is needed for an addition of a chimney bump 
out which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a 6.5 
foot left yard where 10 feet is required; and b) 26.6% building coverage where 20% is 
required. 2) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or 
structure to be expanded, reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to the 
requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 153 Lot 14 
and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-22-182)  

 
E. The request of Joshua Wyatt and Erin Hichman (Owners), for property located at 

196 Aldrich Road whereas relief is needed to demolish existing garage and construct 
new garage and construct new addition over existing side porch which requires the 
following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a secondary front yard of 3 feet 
where 30 feet is required; b) a 6 foot rear setback where 10 feet 7 inches is required; c) 
23% building coverage where 20% is the maximum allowed. 2) A Variance from 
Section 10.571 to allow and accessory structure to be 10 feet from the front lot line and 
located in the front yard. 3) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming 
building or structure to be extended, reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to 
the requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 153 Lot 
25 and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-23-24)   
 

F. The request of Murdock Living Trust (Owner), for property located at 15 Lafayette 
Road whereas relief is needed to subdivide one lot into two lots which requires the 
following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow 73.8 feet of continuous street 
frontage where 100 feet is required for the remainder lot. Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 152 Lot 2 and lies within the General Residence A (GRA) and Historic 
District. (LU-23-26)  
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda, Board of Adjustment Meeting, April 18, 2023 Page 3 

THE BOARD WILL BE VOTING TO POSTPONE CONSIDERATION OF THE 
FOLLOWING ITEMS TO THE APRIL 25, 2023 BOARD OF ADJUSMENT MEETING. 

 

G. The request of Jared J Saulnier (Owner), for property located at 4 Sylvester Street 
whereas relief is needed to subdivide one lot into two lots which requires the following: 
Proposed Lot 1: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a lot area and lot area per 
dwelling of 9,645 square feet where 15,000 is required for each; b) 80 feet of lot depth 
where 100 feet is required; and c) a 9 foot right side yard where 10 feet is required. 
Proposed Lot 2: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a lot area and lot area per 
dwelling unit of 6,421 square feet where 15,000 is required for each; b) 40 feet of street 
frontage where 100 feet is required; and c) 80 feet of lot depth where 100 feet is 
required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 232 Lot 36 and lies within the 
Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-23-27)  
 

H. The request of Cynthia Austin Smith and Peter (Owners), for property located at 9 
Kent Street whereas relief is needed to demolish the existing two-family and construct 
a single-family dwelling which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 
10.521 to allow a) a lot area and lot area per dwelling of 5,000 square feet where 7,500 
square feet is required for each; b) 53% building coverage where 25% is the maximum 
allowed; c) a 4.5 foot rear yard where 20' is required; d) a 0.5 foot side yard where 10 
feet is required; e) a 0 foot front yard where 11 feet is allowed under Section 10.516.10; 
and f) a 9.5 foot secondary front yard where 13 feet is allowed under Section 10.516.10. 
2) A Variance from Section 10.515.14 to allow a 1.5 foot setback for a mechanical unit 
where 10 feet is required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 113 Lot 42 and lies 
within the General Residence A (GRA) District. (LU-23-28)  

 
III.  NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Petition of 729-733 Middle Street Condominium Association, Nicole M. Bodoh and 

Craig Crowell, for Appeal of an Administrative Decision not to present to the Board of 
Adjustment the Motion for Rehearing of Variance Application of David Sinclair and 
Nicole Giusto for property located at 765 Middle Street due to an untimely request. 
Said property is shown on Assessor Map 148 Lot 37 and lies within the General 
Residence A (GRA) and Historic Districts. 
 

B. The request of Peter G Morin Trust, Peter G Morin Trustee (Owner), for property 
located at 170 Mechanic Street whereas relief is needed to install a generator which 
requires the following: 1) Variance from Section 10.515.14 to allow a) 4 foot rear yard 
where 10’ is required and 5.5 foot  rear yard where 10 feet is required; 2) Variance from 
Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, 
reconstructed or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance.… 



Agenda, Board of Adjustment Meeting, April 18, 2023 Page 4 

Said property is located on Assessor Map 102 Lot 7 and lies within the General 
Residence B (GRB) and Historic District. (LU-23-35) 

 
C. The request of RTM Trust, Ryan T Mullen and Heidi E K Trustees (Owners), for 

property located at 253 Odiorne Point Road whereas relief is needed to construct a 
deck extension which requires a Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 30 foot rear 
yard where 40 feet is required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 224 Lot 10-19 
and lies within the Single Residence A (SRA) District. (LU-23-36) 

 
D. The request of Cherie A Holmes and Yvonne P Goldsberry (Owners), for property 

located at 45 Richmond Street whereas relief is needed to construct a greenhouse 
which requires the following: 1) Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 5.5 foot rear 
yard where 15 feet is required; 2) Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a 
nonconforming building or structure to be extended, reconstructed or enlarged without 
conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance.… Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 108 Lot 18 and lies within the Mixed Residential Office (MRO) and 
Historic District. (LU-20-249) 

 
E. The request of 45 Rockingham St LLC (Owner), for property located at 45 

Rockingham Street whereas relief is needed to construct a front porch and rear 
addition which requires the following: 1) Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a) .5 
foot front yard where 5 feet is require, b) 1.5 foot side yard where 10 feet is required, c) 
41% building coverage where 35% is allowed; 2) Variance from Section 10.321 to 
allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, reconstructed or enlarged 
without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 144 Lot 6 and lies within the General Residence C (GRC) District. (LU-
23-41) 
 

F. The request of Bucephalus LLC (Owner), for property located at 650 Maplewood 
Avenue whereas relief is needed to remove the outdoor fenced storage area and 
construct a 48 foot by 25.5 foot addition to the rear of the existing structure which 
requires a Variance from Section 10.592.20 to allow the expansion of space used for 
motorcycle sales located adjacent to a Residential district where 200 feet is required. … 
Said property is located on Assessor Map 220 Lot 88 and lies within the Business (B) 
District. (LU-21-111) 
 

G. The request of Cate Street Development LLC (Owner), for property located at 360 
US Route 1 BYP whereas relief is needed to install a sign on the northern façade of the 
building which requires a Variance from Section 10.1271 to allow a sign to be installed 
on a façade not facing the street or with a public entrance; 2) Variance from Section 
10.1242 to allow more than one parapet sign above the ground floor per facade. Said 
property is located on Assessor Map 172 Lot 1 and lies within the Gateway Corridor 
(G1) District. (LU-23-44) 



Agenda, Board of Adjustment Meeting, April 18, 2023 Page 5 

 
IV. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
 

V.  ADJOURNMENT 
*Members of the public also have the option to join this meeting over Zoom, a unique meeting ID and 
password will be provided once you register. To register, click on the link below or copy and paste this 
into your web browser:  

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uvl08FNuRMayJ-A6xLKZew 

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uvl08FNuRMayJ-A6xLKZew


MINUTES OF THE 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 

CONFERENCE ROOM A 
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, 1 JUNKINS AVENUE 

PORTSMOUTH, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 
7:00 P.M.                                          March 21, 2023                                                                                                                                   
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Phyllis Eldridge, Chair; Beth Margeson, Vice Chair; Paul Mannle; 

David MacDonald; David Rheaume; Jeffrey Mattson, Alternate 
 
MEMBERS EXCUSED: Thomas Rossi 
 
ALSO PRESENT:   Stefanie Casella, Planning Department  
                                                                                             
 
Alternate Jeffrey Mattson took a voting seat for the evening. 
 
I. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

 

A. Approval of the February 22, 2023 minutes 
 

On page 8, in the following sentence “He said anything that would have been done to the house 
would require a variance, and in this case, what’s being asked for would make it less 
nonconforming”, the phrase ‘would make it less nonconforming’ was changed to ‘would be less 
nonconforming’. 
 
On p. 9, the referral to the Planet Fitness Gym was deleted and replaced with the phrase 
‘neighboring property’ so that the sentence now reads: “Mr. Bardong said there was no street and 
that the land went into the backyard of the neighboring property.” 
 
On p. 10, the following sentence: “He said the structures on Lots 140-2 and -4 were two-story ones, 
and Lot 8 was probably not a buildable lot” was changed to: “He said the structures on Lots 140-2 
and -4 were two-story ones, and that portions near the subject property were probably not a 
buildable lot.” 
 
On p. 11, the referral to the 2025 variance application should be the 2015 variance. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to approve the minutes as amended, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion 
passed by unanimous vote, 6-0. 
 

B. Approval of the February 28, 2023 minutes 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson abstained from the vote. 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 2 
 

Mr. Mannle moved to approve the minutes as presented, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion 
passed by unanimous vote, 5-0. 
 
Chair Eldridge announced that Old Business Item II.B, 635 Sagamore Avenue Development LLC, 
and New Business Item III.A, 67 Ridges Court were postponed by the applicants. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to suspend the rules, seconded by Vice-Chair Margeson. The motion passed by 
unanimous vote, 6-0. 
 
Mr. Rheaume abstained from the vote. Mr. Mannle moved to postpone Item II.B, 635 Sagamore 
Avenue Development LLC, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion passed by unanimous vote, 5-0. 
 
Mr. MacDonald abstained from the vote. Mr. Mannle moved to postpone Item III.A, 67 Ridges 
Court, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion passed by unanimous vote, 5-0. 
 
II. OLD BUSINESS 
 
The board discussed whether Mr. Rheaume had no conflict of interest by participating in the appeal, 
seeing that his wife, Planning Board Vice-Chair Beth Moreau, had approved the Wetlands 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP). 
 
Mr. Rheaume moved to not recuse himself from the appeal, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion 
passed by a vote of 3-2, with Mr. Mannle and Vice-Chair Margeson voting in opposition. 
 

A. 1 Raynes Avenue - Appeal - As ordered by the Superior Court on February 2, 2023, 
the Board will “determine, in the first instance, whether it has jurisdiction over the 
issues presented” by Duncan MacCallum (Attorney for the Appellants) in the 
January 14, 2022 appeal of the December 16, 2021 decision of the Planning Board 
for property located at 31 Raynes Avenue, 203 Maplewood Avenue, and 1 Raynes 
Avenue which granted the following: a) site plan approval b) wetlands conditional 
use permit; and c) certain other, miscellaneous approvals, including an approval 
related to valet parking. Said properties are shown on Assessor Map 123 Lot 14, 
Map 123 Lot 13, Map 123 Lot 12, Map 123 Lot 10 and lie within the Character 
District 4 (CD4) District, Downtown Overlay District (DOD), Historic District, and 
the North End Incentive Overlay District. (LU-21-54)  

 
SPEAKING TO THE APPEAL 
 
Attorney Duncan MacCallum representing the appellants was present to see if the board had 
jurisdiction before the Superior Court over the appeal of the Planning Board’s decision on the 
following issues: a) site plan approval; b) wetlands CUP; and c) other miscellaneous approvals 
including valet parking. He reviewed each issue and gave the reasons why the board should or 
should not entertain an appeal on each issue (recording time stamp 17:27). 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 3 
 

Vice-Chair Margeson asked for more information about Attorney MacCallum’s count of the 
recommendation of the Conservation Commission to the Planning Board. Attorney MacCallum said 
the Conservation Commission’s only role was to recommend yea or nay as to whether the Wetlands 
CUP should be granted, and he thought the ZBA didn’t have any business reviewing it. Mr. Mannle 
said he reviewed the Dec 16, 2021 Conservation Commission meeting and that the vote was a 3-3 
tie. Attorney MacCallum said he couldn’t remember. Mr. Mannle asked if the HDC had approved 
it, and Attorney MacCallum agreed. Mr. Rheaume asked whether Attorney MacCallum felt that 
there was nothing in the zoning ordinance that talked to the composition of the Planning Board. 
Attorney MacCallum said there was the administrative code and the ZBA had the right to 
administrative appeals, so he thought the board should be entertaining that issue. He said the New 
Hampshire Legislature would prefer that as many issues as possible be resolved at the ZBA level 
before burdening the courts with additional issues, but he admitted that it was a borderline issue. 
Mr. Rheaume asked if the Planning Board placed a condition in writing for the valet parking 
provision that would tie it back to the site plan approval. Attorney MacCallum said the zoning 
ordinance itself had other provisions pertaining to parking besides parking CUPs and that the ZBA 
got involved when there are provisions that regulate how much or how little parking there should 
be. He said the board was in a far better position than the Superior Court in determining whether or 
not the parking plan opposed by the developers is adequate and thought it was a much stronger case 
for jurisdiction than whether a Planning Board member was ineligible for voting. Vice-Chair 
Margeson asked if the HDC approval changed the site plan on the project. Attorney MacCallum 
said he didn’t remember and thought it was last December of early January since they granted the 
approval. Vice-Chair Margeson said if the site plan changed, it would have to go back to the 
Planning Board for an amended site plan approval. Planning Director Peter Britz was present and 
said the site plan approval was not changed by the HDC decision. 
 
Attorney Courtney Herz was present on behalf of the project applicant and said the only issue 
before the board was whether it had jurisdiction over the appeal of the Planning Board decision. She 
said the board received a memo from City Attorney McCourt informing them about the laws 
governing the question, which she said were laid out in Statute RSA 6765. The said that only 
questions involving the construction, interpretation, or application of the zoning ordinance were 
properly within the board’s jurisdiction, and any claims outside of those parameters should be 
dismissed. She said appeals of CUPs must go directly to Superior Court. She noted that Attorney 
MacCallum didn’t state one single provision of the zoning ordinance that he claimed had been 
violated by the Planning Board decision. She reviewed each issue and the reasons why the board 
had no jurisdiction over them (recording time stamp 39:07). 
 
Mr. Mannle asked if the project received approval from the Conservation Commission. Attorney 
Herz said it was a tie vote. Mr. Mannle asked Attorney Herz if she agreed that if a board is not 
constituted according to the State RSA, then the decisions of that board are at least questionable if 
not invalid. Attorney Herz said it was a broad question but what mattered was that it was before the 
board and that it was up to the board to decide whether issues appealed were within their 
jurisdiction. She said the statute was explicit in what the board could consider and that there were 
other forums for arguments to be heard. 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 4 
 

Vice-Chair Margeson said it was the first time the board was hearing the appeal. She said she felt 
that the parking was undeveloped by Attorney MacCallum’s letter and also thought the Planning 
Board rushed that issue at the end. She said it was difficult to figure out what the board was 
supposed to be reviewing on the valet parking issue. Attorney Herz said the board had to be 
governed by the appeal that was filed and all it said about parking was that there were some 
unanswered questions about valet parking and whether there was an adequate amount of parking, 
which clearly fell within the ordinance’s parking CUP. Vice-Chair Margeson said it could be part of 
site plan approval, which was appealable to the board. Attorney Herz said it would be only if it 
touched on the zoning ordinance and not a CUP issue.  
 
DISCUSSION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Mattson said he didn’t think the board had jurisdiction. He said the key issue was the parking 
and finding out that the HDC didn’t change the site plan. Vice-Chair Margeson suggested that the 
board decide on each of the grounds and make their findings to the court and that they go through 
the January 14 appeal letter. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson referenced page 32 of the packet and the January 14 letter from Attorney 
MacCallum. She said the grounds of appeal were paragraphs 1 through 8 that dealt with the 
ineligibility of Raymond Pezzullo as a member of the Planning Board. She said it was clearly a 
conflict between the RSA and the city ordinance whether or not that triggered Winslow v. 
Holderness and made that vote ineligible. She said she did not believe it was in the board’s purview 
to decide. Mr. Mattson said he saw no conflict of interest on the Planning Board’s vote but didn’t 
see it as being under the ZBA’s jurisdiction. Mr. Rheaume asked if there was something in the 
zoning ordinance that would affect the composition of the board and who should be on it. He said 
he didn’t see anything in the applicant’s or the appellant’s discussion that indicated that they cited 
anything specific to the zoning ordinance. He said he couldn’t find anything in the zoning ordinance 
that was tied to it and thought it wasn’t something that the zoning ordinance should be reviewing. 
Mr. Mannle agreed and said the composition of the Planning Board had been in question for a 
number of years. He said he would look at the State RSAs vs. how the Planning Board is made up. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson moved that the ZBA has no jurisdiction over the complaints in paragraphs 1 
through 7 regarding the composition of Board members as stated in the January 14 appeal letter by 
Attorney MacCallum. Mr. Mattson seconded. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson referred to her comments and said she thought there was a conflict, and that 
the issue of whether or not it triggered and fit into the Winslow vs. Holderness was a matter for the 
Superior Court to deal with. 
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0. 
 
Mr. Mattson moved that the Zoning Board of Adjustment has no jurisdiction over the complaints in 
paragraphs 8 through 10 regarding Wetland Conditional Use Permits as stated in the January 14 
appeal letter by Attorney MacCallum. Mr. Rheaume seconded. The motion passed by a unanimous 
vote of 6-0. 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 5 
 

Vice-Chair Margeson said she didn’t know if the parking outside of the CUP actually tied into the 
site plan approval, which would be appealable to the board. She said she thought it was the 
appellants’ responsibility to plead that out but also thought the Planning Board did not do a good 
job on it. Mr. Mannle said he thought the whole application was rushed, considering that the 
Planning Board was still waiting for HDC and Conservation Commission approvals. He said the 
parking was appealable to the ZBA and didn’t think anything wrong was done as far as applying the 
ordinance in place, except for how Planning Board members rushed through the process or gave 
misinformation to sway other members. Mr. Mattson said he shared some of Mr. Mannle’s concerns 
but he was concerned that the burden would be on the appellant and there were no provisions 
mentioned in the ordinance regarding the parking, independent from the CUP which the ZBA didn’t 
have purview over. Mr. Rheaume cautioned that the board’s responsibility was whether they had 
jurisdiction over it and not a decision on the merits or demerits of what the Planning Board actually 
did. He said nothing in the zoning ordinance talked to the necessity of one board waiting for another 
board’s decision. He said the valet parking was the most questionable aspect of the discussion in 
terms of something that could be appealable to the ZBA. He asked if the Planning Board wandered 
into territory that was starting to affect other areas of the zoning ordinance and might have had to 
come back to the ZBA because it wasn’t completely covered by the ordinance. He referred to the 
part in the ordinance that says the board may “accept, modify, or reject the applicant’s findings of 
the parking demand analysis.” Mr. Rheaume said the word ‘modify’ would open the door up for the 
Planning Board to say they were either in keeping with the concept of the CUP and therefore 
making it something the ZBA would not be reviewing or they were wandering outside of that. He 
said it was something the board needed to figure out. Chair Eldridge said she felt that the parking 
was the stickiest issue but the main feature was the valet parking and who would pay for it and 
whether there were enough parking spots. Mr. Mattson referred to Paragraph 11 and said the HDC 
did not make any changes to the site plan regarding parking. 
 
Ms. Margeson moved that the Zoning Board of Adjustment has no jurisdiction over the complaints 
in paragraph 11 regarding the Historic District Commission as stated in the January 14 appeal 
letter by Attorney MacCallum. Mr. Mattson seconded. The motion passed by a vote of 5-1, with Mr. 
Mannle voting in opposition. 
 
Mr. Mattson moved that the Zoning Board of Adjustment has no jurisdiction over the complaints in 
paragraph 11 regarding parking as stated in the January 14 appeal letter by Attorney MacCallum. 
Mr. Rheaume seconded for discussion. 
 
Mr. Rheaume said he was torn and felt that the word ‘modify’ was the only word in the zoning 
ordinance that may give the Planning Board an out and put it under the cognizance of the CUP. He 
said the key was in saying it didn’t apply and was something the ZBA didn’t need to review 
because it was within the overall purview that the Planning Board would have in regard to a CUP. 
He said the board could accept, modify, or reject the findings of the applicants’ parking demand 
analysis but thought the word ‘modify’ got the applicant off the hook and that the board would not 
have jurisdiction over it because it was covered by the umbrella of the CUP. Mr. Mattson said 
anything regarding CUPs automatically went to Superior Court, so the parking would be 
independent of the CUP for parking. It was further discussed. 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 6 
 

The motion passed by a vote of 5-1, with Mr. Mannle voting in opposition. 
 
The board reviewed Paragraph 12, Conservation Law Foundation, next. Vice-Chair Margeson said 
she thought the Conservation Law Foundation was misquoted and influenced other members of the 
Planning Board but didn’t think it was in the ZBA’s purview. Mr. Mattson agreed. Mr. Rheaume 
said the paragraph pointed toward the Wetlands Cup, so in that sense it would not be covered. He 
said nothing talked to a specific paragraph of the zoning ordinance. 
 
Mr. Mattson moved that the Zoning Board of Adjustment has no jurisdiction over the complaints in 
paragraph 12 regarding the Conservation Law Foundation as stated in the January 14 appeal 
letter by Attorney MacCallum. Mr. MacDonald seconded. 
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0.  
 
The board reviewed the Conservation Commission Question, Paragraph 13. Mr. Rheaume said there 
was nothing in the zoning ordinance that binds the Planning Board to uphold a recommendation 
from another board, so it was nothing under the ZBA’s purview. Mr. Mattson noted that it was a 3-3 
tied vote. Chair Eldridge said it failed to pass. Mr. Mattson said it would relate to the CUP and the 
lack of a specific provision of the zoning ordinance not being stated. 
 
Mr. Mattson moved that the Zoning Board of Adjustment has no jurisdiction over the complaints in 
paragraph 13 regarding the Conservation Commission as stated in the January 14 appeal letter by 
Attorney MacCallum. Mr. Rheaume seconded. 
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0. 
 

B. The request of 635 Sagamore Development LLC (Owner), for property located at 
635 Sagamore Avenue whereas relief is needed to remove existing structures and 
construct 4 single family dwellings which requires the following: 1) A Variance 
from Section 10.513 to allow four free-standing dwellings where one is permitted. 2) 
A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a lot area per dwelling unit of 21,198 
square feet per dwelling where 43,560 square feet is required. Said property is 
located on Assessor Map 222 Lot 19 and lies within the Single Residence A (SRA) 
District. (LU-22-209)   

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Rheaume abstained from the vote. 
 
The Board moved to grant the request to postpone consideration to the April meeting by a vote of 5-
0. 
 

C. The request of Nissley LLC (Owner), for property located at 915 Sagamore 
Avenue whereas relief is needed to demolish the existing building and construct new 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 7 
 

mixed-use building which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.440 
to allow a mixed-use building where residential and office uses are not permitted. 2) 
A Variance from Section 10.1113.20 to allow parking to be located in the front yard 
and in front of the principal building. 3) A Variance from Section 10.1114.31 to 
allow 2 driveways on a lot where only one is allowed. Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 223 Lot 31 and lies within the Waterfront Business (WB) District. 
(LU-22-229) 

 
Note: this was not a public hearing. The public hearing was previously closed. 
  
Mr. Rheaume said the application was a request to construct a mixed-use building, including 
residential and offices, in the Waterfront Business District (WBD) where those uses are not 
allowed. He said the applicant noted that a property directly across from Sagamore Creek was used 
for office space, but Mr. Rheaume said it was really in the Mixed-Residential Office District and 
was allowed. He said the applicant talked about the feasibility of using the waterfront and the fact 
that the waterfront was minimal, which negatively affected their ability to meet the expectations of 
the WBD. Mr. Rheaume said there were a few uses allowed in the WBD but the city was trying to 
preserve some aspect of Portsmouth’s marine heritage, so there were some options that didn’t 
require water space at all. He said the WBD did include several parcels of mostly residential uses, 
but one of the options was marine-related research and development that didn’t require waterfront 
space. He said what was proposed was very generic and was better suited for the Gateway District 
and that there were a lot of other places the business could go. He said what was proposed failed on 
being in keeping with the spirit of the ordinance and the hardship argument. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson said she watched the presentation and deliberations and thought the project 
had some benefit but didn’t meet the spirit of the ordinance. She said she didn’t support it the first 
time and wouldn’t support it now. In terms of hardship, she said the business allowed for the sale of 
marine goods, groceries, and so on, which was a use variance but would be like rezoning the 
property to mixed-residential business. She said the applicant proposed 12 work units, but the 
purpose of a mixed-residential business was to provide a transition from commercial to residential. 
She said she didn’t really see any commercial properties there and didn’t think it fit the spirit and 
intent of the Mixed Residential-Business District. She was also concerned about the density. She 
said the property was asking for12 units, but the highest amount allowed was eight. Mr. Mattson 
agreed. He said the density was almost hidden by the fact that the WBD didn’t have any criteria 
regarding density and the preciousness of the waterfront. He said he thought, however, that the 
property was underutilized and suggested stipulations requiring that one or two more offices be 
used for waterfront purposes and that the proposed density be reduced. Chair Eldridge said it was 
like a little desert in the middle of residences and said there were many uses for waterfront 
businesses that didn’t require a lot of water, but she thought that because of the rezoning and the 
density suggested, she could not support the application. Mr. Mattson said something would happen 
to the property if it wasn’t dealt with now, so the stipulations would help move it along. Mr. 
Rheaume said he thought there were some possibilities and didn’t think the applicant, with its heavy 
emphasis on other uses, made a real attempt to honor the WBD. He said it didn’t meet the board’s 
criteria and that the applicant was also asking to negate the existing conforming use.  
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 8 
 

DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 

Mr. Rheaume moved to deny the request, as it failed to meet the criteria set forth in 10.233.22 
because the proposal did not demonstrate that removing the use of a waterfront business would be 
in keeping with the spirit of the ordinance; and it failed to meet criteria set forth in 10.233.25 
because the proposal did not demonstrate enough of a hardship to prove the property was unique to 
others in the Waterfront Business District. Mr. Mannle seconded the motion. 
 
The motion to deny passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0. 
 

D. The request of The Griffin Family Corporation (Owners), and LoveWell 
Veterinary Services, LLC (Applicant), for property located at 738 Islington 
Street, Unit 1B (previously advertised as 800 Islington Unit 1B) whereas relief is 
needed to allow a veterinary clinic which requires the following: 1) Special 
Exception from Section 10.440, Use #7.50 to allow a veterinary clinic where the use 
is permitted by Special Exception. Said property is located on Assessor Map 155 Lot 
13 (previously advertised as Assessor Map 154 Lot 1) and lies within the Character 
District 4-W (CD4-W) District. (LU-23-8) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
Attorney Tim Phoenix was present on behalf of the applicant. He said they previously got approved 
for a special exception but then the owner couldn’t work out the lease arrangements, so they were 
back for an identical request but a different location. He said nothing in the proposal had changed 
except for the location. He reviewed the special exception criteria. 
 
Mr. Rheaume said the zoning ordinance definition didn’t limit the property to small animals and the 
special exception would run with the land in the future. He suggested a stipulation that the special 
exception be granted for the care of dogs, cats, and similar other animals, with the largest animal 
being a dog. Attorney Phoenix said that would be acceptable. 
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 
No one was present to speak, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 

 
Mr. Rheaume moved to grant the special exception with the following condition: 

1. Clinic treatment is limited to dogs, cats, and other small animals.  
Mr. Mannle seconded. 

 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 9 
 

Mr. Rheaume said the approval ran with the land and the way it was all set up was all allowed by 
special exception, so it met the criteria of Section 10.232.21. He said granting the special exception 
would meet Section 10.232.22 and would pose no hazard to the public or adjacent properties on 
account of the potential of fire, explosion of release of toxic materials. He said a veterinary practice 
was very limited in those areas and any toxic materials would be extremely limited in nature. He 
said granting the special exception would meet Section 10.232.23 because it would pose no 
detriment to property values in the vicinity or change in the essential character of the area like 
odors, smoke, dust, other pollutants, gas, noise, glare, heat vibration, unsightly storage of 
equipment, and so on. Referring to Section 10.232.24, he said there would be no creation of a traffic 
safety hazard or potential increase in the level of traffic congestion in the vicinity, noting that there 
were a number of parking lots nearby but the small size of the unit was minimal compared to the 
other uses around it. He said there were some parking challenges but the applicant would not 
significantly add to them. Referring to Section 10.232.25, he said granting the special exception 
would pose no excessive demand on municipal services including but not limited to water, sewer, 
waste disposal, police and fire protection, schools, and so on. He said it was a veterinary clinic that 
would not create any significant impact on those services. He said there would be no increase of 
stormwater runoff onto adjacent properties or streets, noting that the existing property performed 
satisfactorily in those areas. Mr. Mannle concurred and had nothing to add. 
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0. 
 

E. The request of Aviation Avenue Group, LLC (Applicant), and Pease 
Development Authority (Owners), for property located at 80 Rochester Avenue 
whereas relief is needed for the construction of an advanced manufacturing facility 
which requires the following: 1) Variance from Article 304.03 (e) to allow a 28 foot 
rear yard where 50 feet is required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 308 
Lot 1 and lies within the Pease Industrial District (PI).  (LU-22-210) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
Attorney John Bosen was present on behalf of the applicant and introduced the project team Eben 
Tormey, John Stebbins, and Neil Hansen. He said the parcel was currently vacant and they wanted 
to develop it for an advanced manufacturing facility. He noted that the project received a variance 
on November 15 to allow a 51-ft front yard setback but then the applicant became aware of a 
setback problem with the utilities, so they met with the Pease Development Authority (PDA) in 
January and got recommendation for a rear year setback of 28.4 feet. Attorney Bosen reviewed the 
PDA criteria and said they would be met. 
 
Mr. Rheaume said Attorney Bosen said the wetlands would be compromised if the building were 
pushed back further to accommodate the setbacks. He asked exactly where the wetlands were and 
why they affected the positioning of the building. Mr. Hansen said the wetlands were on the 
opposite side of the street and that a previous concept of the building was longer and narrower, 
which pushed the parking closer to the right-of-way line on their side of the property and was 
getting near the wetland buffer and required some reconfiguration of the street. He said they would 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 10 
 

avoid the wetland buffer by leaving the road where it was. He said the road was wider than the 
typical road, which was part of the hardship. Mr. Rheaume asked for examples of surrounding 
properties that were commercial in nature and had similar setbacks. Attorney Bosen said the 
property across the street, Seacoast Media Group, had a similar setback. Mr. Rheaume asked why 
the 2:1 ratio for the building was important. Attorney Bosen said the proposed building had to have 
a certain column width and depth that drove its proportions. Mr. Rheaume said the 2:1 ratio could 
still be met with a smaller structure, and it was further discussed. Attorney Bosen said the building 
had to be a certain size for it to function as an advanced manufacturing facility. 
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 
No one spoke, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Mattson moved to recommend approval to the PDA, seconded by Mr. Mannle. 
 
Mr. Mattson said there would be no adverse effect or diminution of values of surrounding properties 
and that the project would be a benefit to the public interest. He noted that the lot was currently 
vacant and would be developed for an advanced manufacturing facility that would bring productive 
and good-paying jobs. He said denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship to the 
person seeking it. He noted that the petition went through the Technical Advisory Committee 
(TAC) and due to the wetlands, buffers, large right-of-way and utilities on the street, it resulted in 
pushing the building back and now met the required variance. He said granting the variance would 
do substantial justice. He said the hardship by denying the variance would not be outweighed by 
any benefit to the public. He said the proposed use would not be contrary to the spirit of the zoning 
rule because the parcel was in the industrial zone and manufacturing use was permitted. 
 
Mr. Mannle concurred and had nothing to add. Mr. Rheaume said he would support the motion, 
although he found the applicant’s argument wanting in several areas and thought some of the logic 
was not supported by the facts of the case, which he further explained.  
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0 
 
III.   NEW BUSINESS 

 

A. The rehearing of the request of Jeffrey M. and Melissa Foy (Owners), for property 
located at 67 Ridges Court whereas relief is needed for construction of a 518 square 
foot garage addition and expansion of front dormer which requires the following: 1) 
A variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 14 foot front yard where 19 feet is 
required per Section 10.516.10. 2) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a  



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 11 
 

nonconforming building or structure to be extended, reconstructed, or enlarged 
without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 207 Lot 59 and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. 
(LU-22-199) 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. MacDonald recused himself from the vote.  
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone the rehearing to the April meeting, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The 
motion passed by a unanimous vote of 5-0. 

 
B. The request of William Camarda (Owner), for property located at 809 State Street 

whereas relief is needed to Extend the existing deck which requires the following: 1) 
Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a 10 foot rear yard where 20 feet is 
required; and b) 46% building coverage where 35% is the maximum allowed. 2) A 
Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be 
extended, reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the 
Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 145 Lot 11 and lies within the 
General Residence C (GRC) District. (LU-23-6) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
The applicant William Camarda was present and said he wanted to extend the shallow deck toward 
the side of the house for more room. He reviewed the criteria and said they would be met. 
 
Mr. Mannle asked was the deck’s current width was. Mr. Camarda said it was 8’4” deep from the 
house and he wanted to make it 12 feet. Mr. Rheaume asked what the basis was for the 10-ft 
clearance. Mr. Camarda the fence was the property line and he wanted to extend the deck 10 feet 
away from that fence. Mr. Rheaume said the Staff Memo noted that the current setback from the 
back property line was two feet for all of the structures, and he asked if Mr. Camarda’s house was 
really set back two feet and the current deck set back two feet from the fence line and whether Mr. 
Camarda was sure about the 10-ft dimension. Mr. Camarda said he measured it and was almost 
positive. In response to Mr. Mattson’s questions, Mr. Camarda said the stairs would not be changed 
and would ask his contractor if covering the green pipe coming out of the ground would work.  
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 
No one spoke, and she closed the public hearing. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 21, 2023                                  Page 12 
 

Mr. Mannle moved to grant the variance as presented and advertised, seconded by Mr. Mattson. 
 
Mr. Mannle said it was a minimal request for a deck and the 10 feet didn’t bother him but the 
building coverage did bother him, but not for that area of town because he’d be surprised if anyone 
on State Street was at 35 percent or below. He said granting the variance would not be contrary to 
the public interest, noting that no one was present to speak against the petition. He said it would 
observe the spirit of the ordinance because outside space was important, especially for a young 
family. He said it would do substantial justice and that it wouldn’t diminish the values of 
surrounding properties but would enhance them as well as the applicant’s property. He said literal 
enforcement of the provisions of the ordinance would result in unnecessary hardship because not 
granting the variance would present a hardship to the applicant. He noted that the neighborhood was 
the more dense area of State Street. For those reasons, he said the petition should be approved. Mr. 
Mattson concurred. He said the deck portion will be less nonconforming than the existing house 
structure in that portion of the stairs, and the small increase of building coverage from 42 to 46 
percent wasn’t a big ask. He noted that normally a deck addition went closer to the rear but the 
applicant’s was going towards the side and more to the inner portion of the parcel. Mr. Rheaume 
added that the key factor was that the deck was moving toward the center of the lot and would not 
impact the surrounding neighbors or be perceived by anyone passing by. 
 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote of 6-0. 

 
IV.   OTHER BUSINESS 
 
There was no other business. 
 
V.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:42 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Joann Breault 
BOA Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



MINUTES OF THE 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 

CONFERENCE ROOM A 
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, 1 JUNKINS AVENUE 

PORTSMOUTH, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 
7:00 P.M.                                          March 29, 2023                                                                                                                                   
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Phyllis Eldridge, Chair; Beth Margeson, Vice Chair; Paul Mannle; 

David MacDonald; Jeffrey Mattson 
 
MEMBERS EXCUSED: Thomas Rossi; David Rheaume 
 
ALSO PRESENT:   Stefanie Casella, Planning Department  
                                                                                             
 
Chair Eldridge called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. She noted that there were only five board 
members present. She asked that the rules be suspended to consider the postponements that evening. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to suspend the rules, seconded by Mr. Mattson. The motion passed 
unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item C, 55 Mangrove Street, to the April meeting, 
noting that the applicant postponed it because there were only five members. Mr. Mattson 
seconded. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item D, 74 Sunset Road, to the April meeting for the 
same reason. Mr. Mattson seconded. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item F, 196 Aldrich Road, to the April meeting, 
noting that the applicant needed to do a new survey. Vice-Chair Margeson seconded. The motion 
passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item I, 15 Lafayette Road, to the April meeting, 
noting that the applicant postponed it due to a team member not being able to be present. Vice-
Chair Margeson seconded. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item K, 4 Sylvester Street, to the April meeting 
because there were only five board members present. Vice-Chair Margeson seconded. The motion 
passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Mannle moved to postpone New Business Item L, 9 Kent Street, to the April meeting for the 
same reason. Mr. Mattson seconded. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 2 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS 
 

C. REQUEST TO POSTPONE. The request of Michael Knight (Owner), for property 
located at 55 Mangrove Street whereas relief is needed to replace the existing 6-foot 
chain link fence with an 8-foot cedar fence which requires the,, following: 1) A Variance 
from Section 10.515.13 to allow an 8 foot fence on the rear and side lot lines where a 6 
foot maximum is allowed. Said property is located on Assessor Map 219 Lot 7 and lies 
within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. REQUEST TO POSTPONE (LU-23-15)  

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 

 
D. The request of John T McDonald III and Mary R McDonald (Owners), for property 

located at 74 Sunset Road whereas relief is needed for an addition of a chimney bump 
out which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a 6.5 foot 
left yard where 10 feet is required; and b) 26.6% building coverage where 20% is 
required. 2)  A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or 
structure to be expanded, reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to the 
requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 153 Lot 14 and 
lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-22-182) 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 
 

E. The request of Katherine L Cook (Owner), for property located at 199 Clinton Street 
whereas relief is needed to demolish the existing dwelling and construct a new single-
family dwelling which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow 
a) a lot area and lot area per dwelling unit of 4,917 where 7,500 is required for each; b) 
54 feet of frontage where 100 feet is required; c) a 4 foot front yard where 15 feet is 
required; d) a 9 foot right side yard where 10 feet is required; and e) 28% building 
coverage where 25% is the maximum allowed. Said property is located on Assessor Map 
159 Lot 26 and lies within the General Residence A (GRA) District. (LU-23-23) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
Attorney Chris Mulligan was present on behalf of the applicant Katherine Cook, who was also 
present. He said they wanted to demolish the existing single-family residence and replace it with a 
new single-family residence in the same location. He reviewed the petition, noting that some of the 
unique aspects of the property were that the building was oriented in such a way that it did not have 
a front door facing Clinton Street, and a side door opened onto a raised deck close to a lot line and 
looked over the neighbor’s porch. He explained why the setback reliefs were needed. He noted that 
a structural memo outlining the difficulties in rehabbing the property was previously submitted to 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 3 
 

the board. The applicant Ms. Cook said she bought the house with the intention of restoring it but 
almost everything in it had to be renovated, after which she would still have a lot of problems. She 
said the architect had convinced her to rebuild the house. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson asked Ms. Cook when she bought the house and whether it passed the home 
inspection. Ms. Cook said she bought the house in January 22, 2023 and it passed the home 
inspection but there were issues with the electric and plumbing and there was some bowing in the 
front of the house that she didn’t know the extent of until after more detailed inspections were done. 
She said the joists were floating and the house was separating. Mr. Mannle asked whether the 
foundation would be taken up with the demolishment. Ms. Cook said the foundation had to be 
completely replaced, and if she only renovated the house, it would have to be lifted to replace the 
foundation, but she would still have issues with the floor joists. 
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING IN FAVOR OF THE PETITION OR 
IN OPPOSITION TO THE PETITION 
 
No one spoke. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 
Rick Becksted of 1395 Islington Street said his house was built in 1894 and that he had substantial 
issues but that he renovated the house. He said he was troubled by someone demolishing a home 
because it was happening more and more in Portsmouth. He said if Ms. Cook put up a new 
structure, the property would be assessed for over a million dollars, which would have an adverse 
effect on the surrounding properties because it would raise their assessment values. He said that was 
the reason Portsmouth was losing so many residents and its character. He asked that the applicant 
come up with a way to renovate her home. 
 
No one else spoke, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DISCUSSION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Mannle said he lived in an old house and knew the challenges. He said the variance requests 
weren’t that big but thought that tearing down a home put a new dimension on it. He said the 
foundation concerned him, more so than the frontage, setbacks, and building coverage. He said the 
applicant knew she was buying into something difficult when the bought the house. especially for 
the size of the lot. Mr. Mattson said the variance requests stemmed from the very small 
nonconforming lot, which was under 5,000 square feet and 2,500 square feet less than the minimum 
required for that zone. He noted that 7,500 square feet was one of the smaller minimal lots in the 
city, so that was a factor. He said something else he struggled with was the variance criteria of not 
diminishing the value of surrounding properties. Having been born and raised in Portsmouth, he 
said he shared concerns of gentrification but noted that the board wasn’t there to address that, even 
though it could fall under the category of potentially harming the public. He said the actual structure 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 4 
 

would be a reasonable use and, independent of the board’s architectural and aesthetic tastes, would 
be a single-family dwelling that would not alter the essential character of the neighborhood. He said 
he’d prefer to see an old house restored, which he did on his own property, but wouldn’t impose 
that on someone else. He said if the house was in the Historic District, it wouldn’t be allowed to be 
demolished and thought that was something to consider. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson said it was modest in terms of zoning relief and brought the proposed home 
into more conformance with the zoning ordinance, but one of the purposes and intents of the 
ordinance was the preservation of historic districts, and buildings and structures of historic or 
architectural interest, which she took into consideration in terms of whether to raze an 1880s 
structure. She agreed that the issues with the house were well known when the applicant bought it, 
which sort of weighed against granting the variances, so she was still undecided.  
 
Mr. MacDonald said the board thought of the status of the property today as the ‘before’ picture and 
what the applicant was proposing was the ‘after’ picture. He said he drove by the property and 
thought it would be improved from the point of view of the streetscape. He said the cost to get from 
the ‘before’ picture to the ‘after’ picture was an investment and thought there was nothing wrong 
with that. He said every time a house was demolished in Portsmouth,  however, more of Portsmouth 
was lost, which went in opposition to renovating the property. He said the value of preserving a 
very tenuous and expensive old house just because it was old didn’t make sense from anyone’s 
point of view except the owner’s. He said it was a question of what people wanted their city to look 
like, either an old Colonial look-alike city or a present-day one with present-day amenities and 
value structures. He said the board’s role was to understand which one was the more favorable 
outcome for everyone and who would win or lose. He said the board had to find a balance. He said 
he himself lived in an old 1780s house and asked himself why he chose to live in that house instead 
of one where everything worked. He said it was a judgment for every individual.  
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. MacDonald moved to grant the variances as presented and advertised, seconded by Mr. 
Mattson. 
 
Mr. MacDonald referred to his comments. He said granting the variances would not be contrary to 
the public interest, noting that there would be no losers, only winners. He said it would observe the 
spirit of the ordinance, which was to keep Portsmouth nice and make it a place where people are 
happy living and raising their families. He said granting the variances would do substantial justice 
because the applicant and the neighborhood residents would have what people came to Portsmouth 
for and it would help everyone and hurt no one. He said granting the variances would not diminish 
the values of surrounding properties because the values would go up. He said literal enforcement of 
the provisions of the ordinance would result in an unnecessary hardship. He said he didn’t know if 
that was a sustainable argument or not, and didn’t think the owner, neighbors, or residents would 
have an unnecessary hardship. He said the owner might experience some difficulty but knew that 
when she chose to buy the property. 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 5 
 

Mr. Mattson said the first two criteria included health, safety, and welfare of the public and that he 
didn’t think granting them would be contrary to that. He said the spirit of the ordinance related to 
the essential character of the neighborhood, and the variances that were all related to the lot size, 
coverage, and setbacks were the same as the existing footprint. For substantial justice, he said the 
board had to weigh the benefit to the applicant, which would not be outweighed by any harm to the 
public because the only potential harm was not only the loss of the structure but how much that 
truly was harmful to the public vs. the issues associated with the structural issues of the existing 
building. He said the new home would be code compliant, so granting the variances would not 
diminish the values of surrounding properties. As for the hardship, he said it was a very small 
nonconforming lot and the proposal would actually improve the side yard setback and the very 
minimal changes to the front yard and lot coverage. He said there was no entryway on Clinton 
Street and that it would be difficult to have one on the front of the existing home. He said it would 
be a reasonable use because it would still be a single-family dwelling and the purpose of the 
setbacks would still be met.  
 
Chair Eldridge said she would support the motion because the requests were so small and many of 
the things that didn’t meet the new zoning ordinance were already in place. She said she was on the 
HDC for ten years and didn’t take the demolition of old buildings lightly. She said the applicant’s 
building was old but that she wasn’t sure it was a historic structure. Vice-Chair Margeson said the 
dimensional variance relief was small but the board was seeing more and more petitions like the 
applicant’s. She said the HDC had purview over the architecture of buildings but one of the zoning 
ordinance’s intents was to protect historic structures. Chair Eldridge noted that if the applicant’s 
building was refurbished instead of rebuilt, its value and those of neighboring properties would still 
be raised, so she didn’t see a reason to vote against it. 
 
The motion passed by a vote of 4-1, with Vice-Chair Margeson voting in opposition. 
 

F. REQUEST TO POSTPONE The request of Joshua Wyatt and Erin Hichman 
(Owners), for property located at 196 Aldrich Road whereas relief is needed to 
demolish existing garage and construct new garage and construct new addition over 
existing side porch which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to 
allow a) a secondary front yard of 3 feet where 30 feet is required; b) a 6 foot rear 
setback where 10 feet 7 inches is required; c) 23% building coverage where 20% is the 
maximum allowed. 2) A Variance from Section 10.571 to allow and accessory structure 
to be  10 feet from the front lot line and located in the front yard. 3) A Variance from 
Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, 
reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. 
Said property is located on Assessor Map 153 Lot 25 and lies within the Single 
Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-23-24) REQUEST TO POSTPONE 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 6 
 

G. The request of Colmax LLC (Owner), for property located at 411 The Hill #6-14 (411 
Deer Street) whereas relief is needed to convert the building into a single-family 
dwelling which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.642 to allow 
residential use on the ground floor in the Downtown Overlay District where is not 
permitted. 2) a Variance from Section 10.5A41.10A to allow a house in the Downtown 
Overlay District where it is not permitted.  Said property is located on Assessor Map 118 
Lot 26-1 and lies within the Character District 4-L1 (CD4-L1) in the downtown Overlay 
District.  (LU-23-21) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
The applicant Paul Delisle was present via Zoom. He said the building was used as a mortgage 
office but that he wanted to allow for a residence on the first floor. He said that making the first 
floor a residence would make the home a single-family one. He reviewed the criteria, noting that all 
the buildings across the street were mostly residential and the residential use would help the city’s 
housing shortage. He said residential usage had more value than office space in Portsmouth. He said 
the hardship was that the ordinance only allowed for an apartment upstairs, which would trigger the 
building codes for change in use, sprinkler systems, fire walls, a new water line and so on. 
 
Mr. Mannle asked if there was no second floor apartment currently and had never been one, and the 
applicant agreed. Vice-Chair Margeson asked if the applicant would accept a stipulation that the 
reasons he was asking for the variance were that the interior features of the building would be 
preserved. Mr. Delisle agreed, noting that he would have to make some changes to walls added on 
the second floor that were not historically significant, but the majority would remain the same. Mr. 
Mattson said the period details were more important than some wall that was built in the 1990s. 
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING IN FAVOR OF THE PETITION  
 
Paige Trace said she was the president of the New Hampshire Chapter of the National Society of the 
Colonial Dames of America (NSCDA), who owned the Moffatt-Ladd House and were abutters. She 
said she would take Mr. Delisle at his word that he would preserve the original fabric of the house 
that was integral to its period. She agreed that most of the other structures near the house were 
single-family ones or had residences on the first floor and said all the homes were moved to The 
Hill because of forward-thinking people during urban renewal.  
 
No one else spoke, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson said having a business on the first floor was very explicit in the ordinance 
because it was the Downtown Overlay District. She noted that the board denied a similar variance in 
the past and she tried to be consistent. She said she would however support the request because she 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 7 
 

thought the property did have special conditions, including that it was across the street from another 
set of properties that were residential and zoned the same way. She said The Hill presented a special 
condition in terms of its zoning and that it was created in the 1970s so that buildings could be 
moved there and preserved. She said there could be conditions placed on the motion, however. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson moved to grant the variances with the following conditions: 

1. The house shall be restored as a single-family home, and 
2. The historic features described on pages 3 and 6 of the application and contained in 

Figures 1 through 5 shall be required from the applicant. 
 
(Note: The seconding of the motion and the stipulations were made at the end of Vice-Chair 
Margeson’s motion). 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson referred to Sections 10.233.21 and .22 of the ordinance and said granting the 
variances would not be contrary to the public interest and would observe the spirit of the ordinance. 
She said the board looked at whether the health, safety and welfare of the public was implicated 
when finding whether or not something violated the spirit or intent of the ordinance and whether it 
would change the essential characteristics of the neighborhood. She said the public’s health, safety 
and welfare would not be affected and the essential character of the neighborhood would not change 
due to the existence of the buildings across the street that were residential and zoned in the same 
way. Referring to Section 10.233.23 of the ordinance, she said granting the variances would do 
substantial justice because there would be a benefit to both the applicant and the public, and the 
benefit to the public would be that a historic building in a historic area will be preserved. Referring 
to Section 10.233.24, she said granting the variances would not diminish the values of surrounding 
properties, noting that the board had not received evidence of how the proposal would affect them 
but thought it was safe to assume that the building’s restoration as a single-family home would not 
diminish surrounding property values. Referring to Section 10.233.25, she said literal enforcement 
of the ordinance would result in an unnecessary hardship because the property had special 
conditions that distinguish it from others in the area, and owing to those special conditions a fair 
and substantial relationship does not exist between the general public purpose of the ordinance’s 
provision and the specific application of that provision to the property, and the proposed use is a 
reasonable one. She said the property did have special conditions because it was part of a historic 
area. She said The Hill was created in the 1970s with the purpose of preserving those buildings, and 
that owing to that special condition, a fair and substantial relationship did exist between having 
residential or business use on the ground floor. She said the proposed use is a reasonable one 
because residential use is allowed in this area, at least on the second floor. 
 
Mr. Mannle concurred. He said the variance requests were to allow residential use on the ground 
floor in the Downtown Overlay District where none were permitted. He said the houses on The Hill 
were moved there from other places before there even was a Downtown Overlay District, so the rule 
was created after the houses were in place and preserved to make them nonconforming, which was 
in itself a hardship. He said the fact that there was a stipulation with no residential on the first floor 
and residential above would prevent a historic residence from being cut down into a condo or 
apartment or mixed use, especially if an owner wanted to keep it a historic home and not destroy the 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 8 
 

interior. Chair Eldridge said she would support the motion because the hardship was in how special 
the building was and how it was brought there to be preserved. 
 
The motion passed by unanimous vote, 5-0. 
 

H. The request of Mark N. Franklin and Julie S. Franklin (Owners), for property located 
at 168 Lincoln Avenue whereas relief is needed for demolition of the existing detached 
garage and porch and construction of a new attached garage and wrap-around porch 
which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a 7.5 foot 
front yard where 15 feet is required; b) a 9 foot secondary front yard where 15 feet is 
required; c) 38% building coverage where 25% is the maximum allowed. 2) A Variance 
from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, 
reconstructed or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. Said 
property is located on Assessor Map 113 Lot 6 and lies within the General Residence A 
(GRA) District. (LU-23-25) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
Applicant Mark Franklin was present to speak to the petition with his designer Hubert Krah. Mr. 
Franklin said he wanted the modernization of his 1900s home and the addition to make the home 
more livable for his family, to work at home, and to have more space for visiting family and 
medical residents. He reviewed the criteria and said they would be met. Mr. Krah reviewed the 
redesign aspects by comparing the existing and proposed floor plans.  
 
Vice-Chair Margeson verified that the office was being moved from the ground floor to the second 
floor. Mr. Franklin said he needed more working space at home but that the office would be no 
bigger than it currently was. Mr. Krah said one of the bedrooms would also be an office. Mr. 
Mannle said the board was looking at probably 250 square feet or more for the footprint. 
  
Ms. Eldridge opened the public hearing.  
 
SPEAKING IN FAVOR OF THE PETITION 
 
Owner Julie Franklin read a letter from her neighbor Laurie Harrigan of 116 Sherburne Avenue who 
was an abutter and couldn’t attend the meeting. Ms. Harrigan said she was in support of the petition 
and thought it met all the criteria. 
 
SPEAKING IN OPPOSITION TO THE PETITION 
 
Maxene Feintuch of 180 Lincoln Avenue said she was the direct abutter and would be the most 
impacted. She said the issues were the proposed home’s size, mass, and scale. She said it would be 
67 feet long and 33 feet high, which wasn’t typical of a house in that neighborhood, and would 
reduce her light, air, and privacy. She said she submitted a letter to the board from a land realty 
stating that the project would diminish her property value. 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 9 
 

Carol Hollis of 557 Union Street said there must be a hardship, and wanting a larger house was not 
a hardship. She said the application exceeded the lot coverage required by the ordinance . 
 
Jennifer Benjamin of 180 Sherburne Avenue said the proposed changes did not reflect the other 
homes in the neighborhood and would set a precedent. She said the neighborhood had a variety of 
architectural styles with varying rooflines that made the streetscape interesting. She reviewed the 
dimensions requested by the applicant and said it would be a net gain of over 800 square feet. 
 
Duncan MacCallum of 536 State Street said it was the kind of thing happening in Portsmouth that 
he didn’t like to see. He said the applicant’s basis for requesting a variance was that he didn’t want 
to comply with the provisions of the ordinance because he couldn’t do what he wanted to do or 
make the money he could make. He said the hardship was on the land itself and not the owner’s 
personal circumstances. He said the requested relief was substantial. 
 
Dryden Robertson of 139 Sherburne avenue said the project would deprive Ms. Feintuch of her air, 
light and privacy. She said a similar long home that was built near her friends changed the storm 
drainage and had flooding problems. She said the city had to be aware of not just beautifying the 
neighborhoods but what it was doing by paving over more and more of the city. 
 
Steve Scott of 377 Richards Avenue said a doctor, a music teacher, and two children previously 
lived in the house and he couldn’t understand how the need was so great to expand the house. He 
said the house’s proposed mass was completely out of character with the neighborhood. 
 
Paige Trace of 27 Hancock Street compared the applicant’s house with hers and said her house was 
big, whereas the applicant’s proposed house would be enormous. She said there were reasons for 
setbacks and thought there would be health and safety issues. 
 
Ellen Cone of 124 Broad Street said the house was renovated five years ago. She said the abutter 
would suffer the hardship, not the applicant. She said she was a college professor and had to teach 
remotely during the pandemic and was able to do it within the footprint of her house. 
 
Esther Kennedy of 41 Pickering Avenue said the zoning was clear and she did not believe that the 
hardship was met. 
 
Rick Becksted of 1395 Islington Street explained how the proposed addition would block the 
abutter’s light and air. 
 
Jim Lee of Sagamore Avenue said he was a realtor and thought the proposed structure would alter 
the essential characteristics of the neighborhood and the surrounding property values would be 
diminished because of the structure’s proposed scale. He said he saw no hardship because the house 
had been a residence for the last 100 years. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 10 
 

Mr. Krah reminded everyone that he was removing a garage that was located too close to two 
adjoining properties and were increasing the footprint by a little over 300 square feet, of which 180 
square feet was the wraparound porch. He said the mid-morning sun would take up some light, but 
if they removed the porch and barely modified the proposed addition, they would be entirely within 
the requirements of the ordinance. He said it was the 21st century and a lot has happened since the 
house was built, like the pandemic and how Portsmouth had changed. He said they would add 
significant value to the house that would increase surrounding property values. 
 
Petra Huda of 280 South Street said it still came back to the size and the impingement on the 
neighborhood. She asked the board to look at the criteria but didn’t think they would find that the 
proposal met it. 
 
Jennifer Benjamin clarified that part of the footprint being taken away is a deck with no impact on 
anyone, which was really the garden space of the property and was infilled with a 3-story addition. 
 
No one else spoke, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DISCUSSION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Mannle said when he first saw the proposal, he was dismayed due to the size but was even more 
dismayed by the comments made. He said the house had a hardship because it was on a corner lot, 
but that he wouldn’t presume if it fit the applicant’s needs or not just because someone lived there 
before who happened to also be a doctor. He said the lot coverage percentage requested was great, 
but the square footage was 271 square feet total, which he further discussed. He said the existing 
house was a 2-story one with an attic and not a 3-story house. He said the applicant was asking for 
9-ft setback on the Sherburne Road side and the permitted setback was 15 feet because it was a 
secondary front yard. He said if there were no other house there, it would be ten feet, so it was a 1-ft 
request. He said the proposal would also make the rear yard compliant. He said light, air, and so on 
were concerns, however. He said there were plenty of houses in Portsmouth that had attached two-
car garages with something on top of them. He said he could see both sides of the argument. 
 
Mr. Mattson said he acknowledged that the format of the board could be difficult but thought it was 
the fairest way to deal with quasi-judicial issues. He said he could see the potential of harm to the 
abutting neighbor on Lincoln Avenue. He said the board had to weigh the benefit to the applicant 
vs. the one to the public. He said the garage was very close to both property lines and the new 
addition would come within the setback of the actual structure. He said the variance criteria asked 
for was really related to the porch in terms of the structure. As far as the coverage, he said it was 
already nonconforming and would become more nonconforming, and he generally didn’t like that. 
He said the applicant wasn’t asking for a height variance. He said he could see that the mass was a 
factor and was something to weigh because it could have an effect on the public interest and 
whether it was in the spirit of the ordinance. He said the neighboring lot was almost identical, 
except that the applicant’s lot was a corner one, which was part of the reason for needing a variance. 
He said the property values criteria was debatable. He said normally he’d think a small lot could be 
a hardship because the neighborhoods coveted in Portsmouth were all developed before zoning 
existed, and the newly-applied zoning often made the lots nonconforming, like the applicant’s, but 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 11 
 

because of the neighbors who would be most affected but had a similar lot made it a challenging 
decision. Vice-Chair Margeson said she would not support the application. She said the fact that it 
was a corner lot was already taken into account by giving a secondary front yard. She said it was 
now at 16.2 feet and the proposed would make it 9 feet. She said even though part of it was the 
porch, it would make a conforming setback nonconforming. She said the right yard setback, which 
is the back of the house, would come into compliance but she thought it would be offset by the 
significant increase in building coverage. She said 38 percent was a very big increase and well over 
the 25 percent maximum allowed by zoning. As to the impact on surrounding properties, she said 
there was evidence that the project would impact them, and the board was required to take that into 
account. She said the letter from the land realtor that was submitted by the nearby abutter was a 
significant piece of evidence for diminishment of properties. Mr. Mattson said the architect 
indicated that he could still build the same height structure attached to a new garage and that it 
could be smaller, so variances wouldn’t be needed. 
 
Chair Eldridge said she didn’t get all the opposition. She said the addition could be built because it 
wouldn’t be too close to the neighbor’s yard or the back or sides. She said it would be tall but it was 
allowed to be that tall. She said the issue was really the wraparound porch that would go next to the 
street and affect no one. She said the applicant was asking for very small variances that wouldn’t 
change the streetscape or the front of the house. Mr. Mattson said the front porch was the issue with 
the setback, and that was on the street side and away from the neighbors. He said the garage would 
be removed, but that wasn’t what the board was granting the variances for. Vice-Chair Margeson 
said she had no problem with the height because it was under the 35-ft maximum, but the spirit and 
intent of the ordinance was to prevent overcrowding of lots. She said it would be a big increase in 
building coverage. It was further discussed. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
Mr. Macdonald moved to deny the request for variances, seconded by Vice-Chair Margeson. 
 
Mr. MacDonald said granting the variances would be contrary to the public interest. Vice-Chair 
Margeson concurred. She referred to Section 10.233.22 of the ordinance and said granting the 
variance would not observe the spirit of the ordinance because the spirit and intent of the ordinance 
was to avoid overcrowding and overbulking of the lot. She referred to Section 10.233.24 and said 
granting the variance would diminish the values of surrounding properties, noting that the board had 
evidence submitted in the form of a letter from a land realtor saying that the proposal would have a 
negative impact on the abutting property at 180 Lincoln Avenue. For those reasons, she moved to 
deny the variance as presented and advertised. 
 
The motion to deny passed by a vote of 4-1, with Chair Eldridge voting in opposition. 
 

I. REQUEST TO POSTPONE The request of Murdock Living Trust (Owner), for 
property located at 15 Lafayette Road whereas relief is needed to subdivide one lot into 
two lots which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow 73.8 
feet of continuous street frontage where 100 feet is required for the remainder lot. Said 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 12 
 

property is located on Assessor Map 152 Lot 2 and lies within the General Residence A 
(GRA) and Historic District. REQUEST TO POSTPONE (LU-23-26) 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 
 

J. The request of Seacoast Management Consulting LLC (Owner), for property located 
at 3 Walton Alley whereas relief is needed to add an AC unit and relocate landing and 
steps which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.515.14 to allow a 1 
foot side setback where 10 feet is required. 2)  A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow 
a) an 8.5 foot setback where 25 feet is required; and b) 38.5% building coverage where 
30% is the maximum allowed. Said property is located on Assessor Map 103 Lot 20 and 
lies within the General Residence B (GRB) and Historic District. (LU-23-22) 

 
SPEAKING TO THE PETITION 
 
The applicant Lisa Masena was present to review the petition. She said the hardship was the lot size 
and there was nowhere else to put the AC unit other than the corner because of the stairs and the 
bulkhead. She reviewed the criteria and noted that the HDC approved it with screening. She said the 
stairs would be moved to the front of the landing. 
 
Vice-Chair Margeson asked what the current building coverage was. Ms. Casella said it was less 
than one percent. Mr. Mattson asked if there was currently an AC unit, and Ms. Masena said no. 
She said the steps and bulkhead were already there. Mr. Mattson noted that the variance was 
advertised as an 8.5 ft rear yard setback but was actually an 11.5 ft rear yard setback, so the 
applicant was asking for less relief than advertised. 
 
Chair Eldridge opened the public hearing. 
 
SPEAKING TO, FOR, OR AGAINST THE PETITION 
 
No one spoke, and Chair Eldridge closed the public hearing. 
 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 

 
Mr. Mattson moved to grant the variances with an 11.5 foot rear yard setback, noting that the 
variance was advertised as an 8.5 ft. rear yard setback but was actually a more conforming 11.5 ft. 
rear yard setback. Mr. Mannle seconded the motion. 
 
Referring to Sections 10.233.21 and .22 of the ordinance, Mr. Mattson said granting the variances 
would not be contrary to the public interest and would observe the spirit of the ordinance. He said 
the proposed use would not conflict with the purpose of the ordinance and would not alter the 
essential characteristics of the neighborhood nor threaten the public’s health, safety, or welfare or 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 13 
 

injure public rights. Referring to Section 10.233.23, Mr. Mattson said substantial justice would be 
done because the benefit to the applicant by adding an AC unit to improve her living conditions 
would not outweigh any potential harm to the general public. Referring to Section 10.233.24, Mr. 
Mattson said granting the variances would not diminish the values of surrounding properties 
because the addition of the AC unit would be a small change and if anything, would improve the 
value of the applicant’s property and not affect surrounding ones. Referring to Section 10.233.25, 
Mr. Mattson said literal enforcement of the provisions of the ordinance would result in an 
unnecessary hardship. He said the proposed use was a reasonable one and the hardship was due to 
the small lot size and the location of the existing home and structures that left no other location for 
the AC unit to be added.  
 
Mr. Mannle concurred and had nothing to add. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 

 
K. REQUEST TO POSTPONE The request of Jared J Saulnier (Owner), for property 

located at 4 Sylvester Street whereas relief is needed to subdivide one lot into two lots 
which requires the following: Proposed Lot 1: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to 
allow a)  a lot area and lot area per dwelling of 9,645 square feet where 15,000 is 
required for each; b) 80 feet of lot depth where 100 feet is required; and c) a 9 foot right 
side yard where 10 feet is required. Proposed Lot 2: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to 
allow a) a lot area and lot area per dwelling unit of 6,421 square feet where 15,000 is 
required for each; b) 40 feet of street frontage where 100 feet is required; and c) 80 feet 
of lot depth where 100 feet is required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 232 
Lot 36 and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. REQUEST TO 
POSTPONE (LU-23-27) 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 
 
The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 
 

L. REQUEST TO POSTPONE The request of Cynthia Austin Smith and Peter 
(Owners), for property located at 9 Kent Street whereas relief is needed to demolish the 
existing two-family and construct a single-family dwelling which requires the following: 
1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a lot area and lot area per dwelling of 
5,000 square feet where 7,500 square feet is required for each; b) 53% building coverage 
where 25% is the maximum allowed; c) a 4.5 foot rear yard where 20' is required; d) a 
0.5 foot side yard where 10 feet is required; e) a 0 foot front yard where 11 feet is 
allowed under Section 10.516.10;  and f) a  9.5 foot secondary front yard where 13 feet 
is allowed under Section 10.516.10.  2) A Variance from Section 10.515.14 to allow a 
1.5 foot setback for a mechanical unit where 10 feet is required. Said property is located 
on Assessor Map 113 Lot 42 and lies within the General Residence A (GRA) District. 
REQUEST TO POSTPONE (LU-23-28) 

 
DECISION OF THE BOARD 



Minutes of the Board of Adjustment Meeting, March 29, 2023                                  Page 14 
 

The petition was postponed to the April meeting. 
 
II. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
There was no other business. 
 
III.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:00 PM 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Joann Breault 
BOA Recording Secretary 



1  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

City of Portsmouth 
Planning Department 

1 Junkins Ave, 3rd Floor 
Portsmouth, NH 

(603)610-7216 

MEMORANDUM 
TO:   Zoning Board of Adjustment 
FROM:  Stefanie Casella, Planner 
DATE:   April 12, 2023 
RE:   Zoning Board of Adjustment April 18, 2023

 
The agenda items listed below can be found in the following analysis prepared by City Staff: 

II. Old Business 

A. 635 Sagamore Avenue 

B. 67 Ridges Court 

C. 55 Mangrove Street 

D. 74 Sunset Road 

E. 196 Aldrich Road 

F. 15 Lafayette Road 

  



2  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 

B. The request of 635 Sagamore Development LLC (Owner), for property 
located at 635 Sagamore Avenue whereas relief is needed to remove existing 
structures and construct 4 single family dwellings which requires the following: 
1) A Variance from Section 10.513 to allow four free-standing dwellings where 
one is permitted. 2) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a lot area per 
dwelling unit of 21,198 square feet per dwelling where 43,560 square feet is 
required. Said property is located on Assessor Map 222 Lot 19 and lies within 
the Single Residence A (SRA) District.  

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing 

 
Proposed 
 

Permitted / Required  

Land Use:  Commercial w/ 
1 apartment 

4 single family 
dwellings 

Primarily residential  

Lot area (sq. ft.):  84,795 84,795 43,560 min. 
Lot Area per Dwelling 
Unit (sq. ft.): 

84,795 21,198 43,560 min. 

Lot depth (ft): 358 358 200  min. 
Street Frontage (ft.):  160 160 150  min. 
Primary Front Yard 
(ft.): 

28 >30 30  min. 

Right Yard (ft.): 60 >20 20  min. 
Left Yard (ft.): 30 21 20 
Rear Yard (ft.): 219 >40 40 min. 
Height (ft.): <35 <35 35 max. 
Building Coverage 
(%): 

4 9.2 10 max. 

Open Space 
Coverage (%): 

>50 81 50 min. 

Parking: 4+ 16 6  
Estimated Age of 
Structure: 

1950  Variance request(s) shown in red. 
 

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
TAC/Planning Board – Site Plan Review 
 
  



3  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 
 

  

Aerial Map 

Zoning Map 



4  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
April 19, 2022 – The BOA considered your application for remove existing commercial 
structure and construct 5 new single-family dwellings which requires the following: 1) A 
Variance from Section 10.513 to allow 5 principal structures on a lot where only 1 is 
permitted. 2) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a lot area per dwelling unit of 22,389 
square feet where 1 acre per dwelling is required. The Board granted your request to 
postpone to the May meeting. 
May 17, 2022 – The Board granted a request to postpone to the June meeting. 
June 22, 2022 – The Board voted to acknowledge the withdrawal of the application. 
November 15, 2022 - The Board granted a request to postpone to the June meeting. 
December 20, 2022 - The Board granted a request to postpone to the June meeting. 
January 17, 2023 - The Board granted a request to postpone to the March meeting.   

Planning Department Comments 
As shown in the history above, the applicant was before the Board this past spring with a 
proposal to construct 5 single family dwellings on one lot.  Due to concerns from the 
abutters, the application was withdrawn so they could work on addressing concerns from the 
abutters.  The new application proposes to demolish the existing structures and construct 4 
free-standing single-family dwellings.  The SRA zone requires 1 acre per dwelling unit and 
only allows 1 principal structure on a single lot.  With 4 dwellings, the proposed lot area per 
dwelling will be 21,198, where 43,560 is required.  With the exception of the density, all 
other dimensional requirements are in compliance with the proposed layout.  This will 
require site plan review before TAC and Planning Board if the variances are granted.  If 
granted approval, staff recommends the following stipulation for consideration: 

1.  The design and location of the dwellings may change as a result of Planning 
Board review and approval. 

Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

(a) The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist 

between the general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific 
application of that provision to the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 
Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict 
conformance with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a 
reasonable use of it. 

 



5  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance. 

 
  



HOEFLE, PHOENIX, GORMLEY & ROBERTS, PLLC 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

127 Parrott Avenue, P.O. Box 4480 I Portsmouth, NH, 03802-4480 

Telephone: 603.436.0666 I Facsimile: 603.431.0879 I www.hpgrlaw.com 

HAND DELIVERED 

Peter Stith, Principal Planner 
Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment 
1 Junkins A venue 

Portsmouth, NH 03801 

October 26, 2022 

Re: 635 Sagamore Development, LLC, Owner/Applicant 
Project Location: 635 Sagamore Avenue 
Tax Map 222, Lot 19 
General Residence A (GRA Zone) 

Dear Mr. Stith and Zoning Board Members: 

On behalf of 635 Sagamore Development, LLC, applicant, enclosed please find the 

following documents in support of a request for zoning relief: 

• Portsmouth Land Use Application uploaded to Viewpoint today.
• Owner Authorization.
• 10/26/2022 - Memorandum and exhibits in support of zoning relief.

Enclosures 

cc 635 Sagamore Development, LLC 
Jones & Beach Engineers, Inc. 
Artform Architecture, Inc. 

DANIEL C. HOEFLE 

R. TIMOTHY PHOENIX

LAWRENCE B. GORMLEY 

SfEPHEN H. ROBERTS 

R. PETERD\YLOR

KEVIN M. BAUM 

GREGORY D. ROBBINS 

MONICA F. KIESER 

Very truly yours, 

R�!� 
Monica F. Kieser 

JACOB J.B. MARVELLEY 

DUNCAN A EDGAR 

STEPHANIE]. JOHNSON 

OF COUNSEL: 
SAMUEL R. REID 
JOHN AHLGREN 





MEMORANDUM 

To: Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment ("ZBA") 
From: R. Timothy Phoenix, Esq. 

Monica F. Kieser, Esq. 
Date: October 26, 2022 
Re: 635 Sagamore Development, LLC, Owner/Applicant 

Project location: 635 Sagamore Avenue 
Tax Map 222, Lot 19 
Single Residence A (SRA) District 

Dear Chairman Parrott and Zoning Board Members: 

On behalf of 635 Sagamore Development, LLC ("635 Sagamore" or "Applicant") we are 

pleased to submit this memorandum and the attached exhibits in support of zoning relief to be 

considered by the ZBA at its November 15, 2022 meeting. 

I. EXHIBITS

A. Plan Set -_by Jones and Beach Engineers

• Cl - Existing Conditions Plan

• C2 - ZBA Site Plan

• C3 - Topographic Site Plan
B. Architectural Elevations and Floor Plans-by ArtForm Architecture, Inc.

• Renderings

• First Floor

• Second Floor

• Foundation Plan

• Elevations

C. Site photographs
D. Tax Assessors Card
E. City GIS Map - identifying nearby zoning districts and surrounding area

II. PROPERTY/BACKGROUND

635 Sagamore Avenue is an 84,795 s.flot with 150 ft. of frontage containing two

buildings in poor condition; the front building contains Luster King, an automobile detailing 

shop and upstairs apartment, and behind a large service garage (the "Property"). The Luster 

King building is located partially within the front yard setback, access to it is over the entire 

frontage, and the use of the Property does not conform to the requirements of the Single 

Residence A District. 63 5 Sagamore proposes to remove the existing commercial building and 

garage and redevelop the Property with four new single-family homes with access via a private 

roadway from Sagamore Avenue (the "Project"). (Exhibit A). The Project is more compatible 



Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment Page 2 of 7 October 26, 2022 

with the neighborhood which includes the westerly abutter, Tidewatch Condominiums with 122 

Units, and the Sagamore Court Condominium with 144 Units. (Exhibit D). Other nearby 

abutters are largely developed with single family residences with similar density as the proposed 

project. The Luster King building is still served by septic, but municipal sewer service has been 

extended to the Property which will serve the proposed dwellings. 

In March of this year, 63 5 Sagamore filed a variance application seeking relief from 

§ 10.513 and § 10.521 (Dimensional Table) to permit five dwellings on the Property where one

dwelling is required and 16,959 s.f. per dwelling unit where 43,560 s.f. per dwelling is required. 

Thereafter, Tidewatch Condominium Association ("Tidewatch") objected, through Counsel 

Brian Bouchard. 635 Sagamore withdrew the previous application in order to spend time 

working with Tidewatch to address its concerns. 635 Sagamore now proposes a twenty percent 

(20%) reduction four-unit residential development which retains a significant tree buffer and 

adds a mix of trees on the south and west side of the lot (the "Revised Project"). Given the 

reduction in units and generous plantings, Tidewatch Condominium Association has withdrawn 

its objection to the Revised Project, provided 635 Sagamore continues to coordinate with 

Tidewatch on issues related to landscaping and stormwater management. 

The Revised Project requires similar relief as before as four dwelling units are proposed 

on a± 1.94 7 acre lot (2.06 units per acre or 21,198 s.f. per dwelling). This density is less than 

nearby densely developed Sagamore Court Condominium (144 units/15.01 acre = 9.59 units per 

acre or 4,542 s.f. per dwelling) to the north and Tidewatch Condominium (122 units/53.59 acre =

2.27 units per acre or 19,189 s.f. per dwelling) directly to the west. Notably, the SRB Zone, 

located across Sagamore A venue, permits a lot area of 15,000 square feet per dwelling unit or 

approximately 2.9 units per acre. The proposal at 21,198 s.f. square feet per unit falls between 

the single-family homes opposite the lot and the more densely developed condominium 

associations. Thus, in addition to cleaning up a long distressed and non-conforming site, 

including narrowing the current open frontage curb cut, the proposal creates a natural transition 

between the SRB Zone across Sagamore, the existing multi-building condominium 

developments to the north and west (rear) of the Property and the nearby single-family home 

lots. 



P01ismouth Zoning Board of Adjustment Page 3 of 7 

III. RELIEF REQUIRED

October 26, 2022 

The Project meets setback, lot coverage, and open space requirements. (Exhibit A).

Relief is required to allow the proposed structures on a single lot and for lot area per dwelling 

unit. 

1.) PZO §10.513 One Freestanding Dwelling/Lot -to permit four dwellings on a 1.947 
acre lot. 

2.) PZO §10.521 (Table of Dimensional Standards) Lot Area Per Dwelling Unit - to 
permit four dwellings on 1.947 acres (21,198 s.f./dwelling area) where 43,560 s.f. is 
required for each dwelling. 

IV. VARIANCE REQUIREMENTS

1. The variance will not be contrary to the public interest

2. The spirit of the ordinances observed

The first step in the ZBA's analysis is to determine whether granting a variance is not 

contrary to the public interest and is consistent with the spirit and intent of the ordinance, 

considered together pursuant to Malachy Glen Associates, Inc v. Town of Chichester, 155 NH 

102 (2007) and its progeny. Upon examination, it must be determined whether granting a 

variance "would unduly and to a marked degree conflict with the ordinance such that it violates 

the ordinances basic zoning objectives." Id. "Mere conflict with the ordinance is not enough." 

Id. 

The Portsmouth Zoning Ordinance was enacted for the general purpose (PZO§ 10.121) of 

promoting the health, safety and welfare in accordance with the Master plan by regulating: 

1. The use of land, buildings and structures for business, industrial, residential and other
purposes -The Property currently houses a non-conforming commercial auto detailing
business and service garage. (Exhibit C). The proposal would replace those buildings
with brand new, to code, residences consistent with surrounding uses.

2. The intensity ofland use, including lot sizes, building coverage, building height and bulk,
yards and open space - The Project complies with building coverage, height, yards and
open space requirements. The reduced proposal with four dwellings on a single lot, at

2.06 dwelling units per acre is consistent with surrounding properties and less than the
density permitted by right across Sagamore A venue.

3. The design of facilities for vehicular access, circulation, parking and loading- The Project
will be served by a private roadway from Sagamore A venue. (Exhibit A). There is
currently no defined curb cut on the property so the redevelopment will improve
driveway distances, site lines, and overall traffic safety from the Property compared to
the existing commercial and residential use. (Exhibit D). The driveway will undergo
further review as part of the Planning Board and NHDOT review processes.



Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment Page 4 of 7 October 26, 2022 

4. The impacts on properties of outdoor lighting, noise, vibration, stormwater runoff and
flooding-The Property is currently used as a commercial auto detailing facility in the
middle of a residential area. The Project will convert the Property to residential use with
lighting, noise, and other conditions more appropriate for the neighborhood. A generous
buffer will be preserved between the Project and Tidewatch Condominium. The Project
maintains 81.3% open space. Stormwater runoff will be improved over the current
development which is significantly paved and use of commercial cleaning chemicals will
cease.

5. The preservation and enhancement of the visual environment-The Project vastly
improves the visual environment for the immediate abutters on either side and across the
street. In addition, a generous vegetated buffer is retained for the south/west abutters.
Sagamore further screens the developed area with the addition of a significant tree buffer.
(Exhibit A).

6. The preservation of historic districts buildings and structures of historic or architectural
interest -The Property and the existing structures to be removed are of no known historic
or architectural interest.

7. The protection of natural resources, including groundwater, surface water, wetlands,
wildlife habitat and air quality -The Project will significantly improve conditions by
terminating the use of commercial grade cleaning chemicals in favor of a compatible
residential uses served by municipal sewer.

In considering whether variances "in a marked degree conflict with the ordinance such

that they violate the ordinances basic zoning objectives." Malachy Glen, supra, the New 

Hampshire Supreme Court also held: 

One way to ascertain whether granting the variance would violate 
basic zoning objectives is to examine whether it would alter the 
essential character of the locality. Another approach to 
[determine] whether granting the variance violates basic zoning 
objectives is to examine whether granting the variance would 
threaten the public health, safety or welfare. (Emphasis Added) 

The Property is located on a busy street in a densely developed residential area. While 

there are some other nearby commercial use properties, they are located closer to Sagamore 

Creek in the Waterfront Business Zone, are largely less impactful and are more buffered from 

nearby residences than the current business operations on the Property. The Project would 

convert a long-standing commercial use that is grossly incompatible with the character of the 

locality to a residential use consistent with the surrounding area including two large 

condominium developments. The commercial traffic and the use of commercial grade cleaning 

chemicals will cease, thus improving the public health, safety and welfare. The wide open curb 



Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment Page 5 of 7 October 26, 2022 

cut accessing the lot will be reduced to a controlled entry/exit. The Project creates a natural 

transition between these condominium developments and the adjoining GRB zone. Thus, 

permitting four code compliant, single-family dwellings on ±1.947 acres does not alter the 

essential character of the locality nor will it threaten the public health, safety or welfare. 

3. Granting the variances will not diminish surrounding property values

The commercial buildings currently located on the Property are distressed, incongruent 

with the surrounding residential neighborhood and frankly an eyesore. The Project cleans up the 

site, removes commercial buildings/uses and replaces them with brand new tastefully designed 

residences. In consultation with Tidewatch, a generous vegetated buffer is retained, which is 

supplemented by the addition of a robust landscape buffer plan. Given the termination of the 

commercial use, removal of the distressed structures, and efforts to screen the residential 

structures, the Project will increase the value of surrounding properties. Accordingly, this 

element of the variance criteria is satisfied. 

4. Denial of the variances results in an unnecessary hardship

a. Special conditions distinguish the property/project from others in the area-

This portion of the SRA District on the north side of Sagamore Creek is comprised of 

only seven properties. (Exhibit E). Discounting Tidewatch with 122 units on 53.59 acres, the 

1.94 7 acre L-shaped lot significantly larger than the remaining five properties, yet contains just 

over the required frontage. Although zoned SRA and subject to a 43,560 s.f. minimum lot area 

and lot area/dwelling unit requirement, this neighborhood is bounded by the Sagamore 

Condominium Development with 144 Units on 15.01 acres, a handful oflots in the Waterfront 

Business District, and the SRB district across Sagamore A venue with its reduced density 

requirement of just 15,000 s.f./dwelling unit. See Walker v. City of Manchester, 107 N.H. 382,386 

(1966) (hardship may be found where similar nonconforming uses exist within the neighborhood and the 

proposed use will have no adverse effect on the neighborhood). The parcel size, shape, and location 

near other densely developed residential parcels combine to create special conditions. 

b. No fair and substantial relationship exists between the general public purposes of the
ordinance and its specific application in this instance.

The purpose of the requirements for one free standing dwelling per lot and lot area per 

dwelling unit is to prohibit overcrowding, allow for air, light, and separation between neighbors, 



Portsmouth Zoning Board of Adjustment Page 6 of 7 October 26, 2022 

and to permit stonnwater treatment. The Project meets all lot area, building and open space 

coverage, height and external setback requirements. Additionally, the proposal provides for 

voluntary setbacks between each of the four new buildings of at least 20 feet, consistent with the 

side setback requirement for the district. Thus, adequate area for air, light, separation between 

neighbors and stormwater treatment is provided. The proposed density is also consistent with 

the surrounding area, which includes many smaller sized lots with homes located in relatively 

close proximity. (Exhibit E). Moreover, granting the requested variances will significantly 

improve the Property and surrounding area by removing two blighted, non-conforming 

commercial structures and replacing them with four brand new, homes where housing is sorely 

needed. The Property will be completely redeveloped, thus it follows that there is no reason to 

apply the strict requirements of the ordinance. This transitional location, located near and 

adjoining two densely development condominiums and across Sagamore A venue from the SRB 

Zone is well suited for the proposed four building single-family development. 

c. The proposed use is reasonable

If the use is permitted, it is deemed reasonable. Vigeant v. Hudson,151 NH 747 (2005). 

The proposal is a residential use in a residential zone and thus is reasonable Accordingly denial 

would result in an unnecessary hardship. 

5. Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance.

If "there is no benefit to the public that would outweigh the hardship to the applicant" this 

factor is satisfied. Harborside Associates, L.P. v. Parade Residence Hotel, LLC, 162 N.H. 508 

(2011). That is, "any loss to the [applicant] that is not outweighed by a gain to the general public 

is an injustice." Malachy Glen, supra at 109. 

"The right to use and enjoy one's property is a fundamental right protected by both the 

State and Federal Constitutions." N.H. CONST. pt. I, arts. 2, 12; U.S. CONST. amends. V, XIV; 

Town of Chesterfield v. Brooks, 126 N.H. 64 (1985) at 68. Part I, Article 12 of the New 

Hampshire Constitution provides in part that "no part of a man's property shall be taken from 

him, or applied to public uses, without his own consent, or that of the representative body of the 

people." Thus, our State Constitutional protections limit the police power of the State and its 

municipalities in their regulation of the use of property. L. Grossman & Sons, Inc. v. Town of 

Gilford, 118 N.H. 480, 482 (1978). "Property" in the constitutional sense has been interpreted to 





MAP 222 LOT 18

TAX MAP 223, LOT 30-1

TAX MAP 222, LOT 20

TID
E

W
A

TC
H

 C
O

N
D

O
M

IN
IU

M
S

(P
R

IV
A

TE
 R

O
A

D
)

S
A

G
A

M
O

R
E

 A
V

E
.

Plan Name:

Project:

Owner of Record:
JBE PROJECT NO.

DRAWING No.

C1
E-MAIL: JBE@JONESANDBEACH.COM

FAX: 603-772-0227
 603-772-4746

PO Box 219
Stratham, NH 03885

85 Portsmouth Ave.

Date:

Drawing Name:
Checked:
Design:

Scale:
Draft:

Project No.: 

BYREV. REVISIONDATE

THIS PLAN SHALL NOT BE MODIFIED WITHOUT WRITTEN
PERMISSION FROM JONES & BEACH ENGINEERS, INC. (JBE).

ANY ALTERATIONS, AUTHORIZED OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE
AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK AND WITHOUT LIABILITY TO JBE.

TOTAL LOT AREA
84,795  SQ. FT.

1.95 ACRES

PROJECT PARCEL
CITY OF PORTSMOUTH
TAX MAP 222, LOT 19

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT2/10/222

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT3/21/223

DJMADDED UTILITY INFORMATION6/2/224

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT6/23/225

DJMREVISED PLAN NAME10/25/226

18134.1

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
4-UNIT RESIDENTIAL SITE

635 SAGAMORE AVE., PORTSMOUTH, NH
635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT, LLC

3612 LAFAYETTE RD., DEPT 4, PORTSMOUTH, NH 03801 BK 6332 PG 1158
SHEET 1 OF 3

JAC
JAC

DJM

18134-CONCEPT-8.dwg

12/07/2021
18134.1AS NOTED

Designed and Produced in NH

EXISTING CONDITIONS NOTES:

TAX MAP 222, LOT 14

TAX MAP 222, LOT 14-1

ABUTTERS ACROSS
SAGAMORE AVE.:

SCALE: 1"=1000'
LOCUS

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT A



MAP 222 LOT 18

TAX MAP 223, LOT 30-1

TAX MAP 222, LOT 20

TID
E

W
A

TC
H

 C
O

N
D

O
M

IN
IU

M
S

(P
R

IV
A

TE
 R

O
A

D
)

S
A

G
A

M
O

R
E

 A
V

E
.

Plan Name:

Project:

Owner of Record:
JBE PROJECT NO.

DRAWING No.

C2
E-MAIL: JBE@JONESANDBEACH.COM

FAX: 603-772-0227
 603-772-4746

PO Box 219
Stratham, NH 03885

85 Portsmouth Ave.

Date:

Drawing Name:
Checked:
Design:

Scale:
Draft:

Project No.: 

BYREV. REVISIONDATE

THIS PLAN SHALL NOT BE MODIFIED WITHOUT WRITTEN
PERMISSION FROM JONES & BEACH ENGINEERS, INC. (JBE).

ANY ALTERATIONS, AUTHORIZED OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE
AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK AND WITHOUT LIABILITY TO JBE.

TOTAL LOT AREA
84,795  SQ. FT.

1.95 ACRES

PROJECT PARCEL
CITY OF PORTSMOUTH
TAX MAP 222, LOT 19

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT2/10/222

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT3/21/223

DJMADDED UTILITY INFORMATION6/2/224

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT6/23/225

DJMREVISED PLAN NAME10/25/226

18134.1

ZBA SITE PLAN
4-UNIT RESIDENTIAL SITE

635 SAGAMORE AVE., PORTSMOUTH, NH
635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT, LLC

3612 LAFAYETTE RD., DEPT 4, PORTSMOUTH, NH 03801 BK 6332 PG 1158
SHEET 2 OF 3

JAC
JAC

DJM

18134-CONCEPT-8.dwg

12/07/2021
18134.1AS NOTED

Designed and Produced in NH

SITE NOTES:

TAX MAP 222, LOT 14

TAX MAP 222, LOT 14-1

ABUTTERS ACROSS
SAGAMORE AVE.:

SCALE: 1"=1000'
LOCUS



TID
E

W
A

TC
H

 C
O

N
D

O
M

IN
IU

M
S

(P
R

IV
A

TE
 R

O
A

D
)

S
A

G
A

M
O

R
E

 A
V

E
.

Designed and Produced in NH
Plan Name:

Project:

Owner of Record:
JBE PROJECT NO.

DRAWING No.

C3
E-MAIL: JBE@JONESANDBEACH.COM

FAX: 603-772-0227
 603-772-4746

PO Box 219
Stratham, NH 03885

85 Portsmouth Ave.

Date:

Drawing Name:
Checked:
Design:

Scale:
Draft:

Project No.: 

BYREV. REVISIONDATE

THIS PLAN SHALL NOT BE MODIFIED WITHOUT WRITTEN
PERMISSION FROM JONES & BEACH ENGINEERS, INC. (JBE).

ANY ALTERATIONS, AUTHORIZED OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE
AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK AND WITHOUT LIABILITY TO JBE.

TOTAL LOT AREA
84,795  SQ. FT.

1.95 ACRES

PROJECT PARCEL
CITY OF PORTSMOUTH
TAX MAP 222, LOT 19

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT2/10/222

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT3/21/223

DJMADDED UTILITY INFORMATION6/2/224

DJMREVISED CONCEPTUAL LAYOUT6/23/225

DJMREVISED PLAN NAME10/25/226

18134.1

ZBA TOPOGRAPHIC SITE PLAN
4-UNIT RESIDENTIAL SITE

635 SAGAMORE AVE., PORTSMOUTH, NH
635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT, LLC

3612 LAFAYETTE RD., DEPT 4, PORTSMOUTH, NH 03801 BK 6332 PG 1158
SHEET 3 OF 3

JAC
JAC

DJM

18134-CONCEPT-8.dwg

12/07/2021
18134.1AS NOTED



MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT B



















 

Aerial view of Property 

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT C



 

Front View of Property (Sagamore Ave)  

 



 

Front View of Property  



 

Front View of Property  



 

Side View of Property 



 

View of Service Garage and Shed 



 

Rear View of Property  





Location 635 SAGAMORE AVE Mblu 0222/ 0019/ 0000/ /

Acct# 35416 Owner 635 SAGAMORE
DEVELOPMENT LLC

PBN Assessment $682,800

Appraisal $682,800 PID 35416

Building Count 2

Owner 635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT LLC
Co-Owner
Address 3612 LAFAYETTE RD DEPT 4 

PORTSMOUTH, NH 03801

Sale Price $387,133
Certificate
Book & Page 6332/1158

Sale Date 09/24/2021

Year Built: 1950
Living Area: 4,477

635 SAGAMORE AVE

Current Value

Appraisal

Valuation Year Improvements Land Total

2020 $407,600 $275,200 $682,800

Assessment

Valuation Year Improvements Land Total

2020 $407,600 $275,200 $682,800

Owner of Record

Ownership History

Ownership History

Owner Sale Price Certificate Book & Page Sale Date

635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT LLC $387,133 6332/1158 09/24/2021

HINES FAMILY REVO TRUST $0 4885/1538 02/11/2008

Building Information

Building 1 : Section 1

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



Replacement Cost: $513,721
Building Percent Good: 54
Replacement Cost 
Less Depreciation: $277,400

Building Attributes

Field Description

Style: Retail/Apartment

Model Commercial

Grade C

Stories: 2

Occupancy 3.00

Residential Units  

Exterior Wall 1 Vinyl Siding

Exterior Wall 2 Pre-Fab Wood

Roof Structure Gable/Hip

Roof Cover Asph/F Gls/Cmp

Interior Wall 1 Drywall/Sheet

Interior Wall 2  

Interior Floor 1 Inlaid Sht Gds

Interior Floor 2 Carpet

Heating Fuel Oil

Heating Type Hot Water

AC Type Unit/AC

Bldg Use PRI COMM

Total Rooms  

Total Bedrms  

Total Baths  

Kitchen Grd  

Heat/AC NONE

Frame Type WOOD FRAME

Baths/Plumbing AVERAGE

Ceiling/Wall CEIL & WALLS

Rooms/Prtns AVERAGE

Wall Height 10.00

% Comn Wall  

1st Floor Use:  

Class  

Legend

Building Photo

Building Photo
(http://images.vgsi.com/photos2/PortsmouthNHPhotos///0033/DSC01732_3

Building Layout

(ParcelSketch.ashx?pid=35416&bid=35416)

Building Sub-Areas (sq ft)

Code Description
Gross 
Area

Living 
Area

BAS First Floor 1,676 1,676

FUS Upper Story, Finished 1,676 1,676

TQS Three Quarter Story 776 582

SFB Base, Semi-Finished 776 543

CAN Canopy 138 0

FEP Porch, Enclosed 63 0

SLB Slab 2,668 0

UAT Attic 2,452 0

UST Utility, Storage, Unfinished 458 0

WDK Deck, Wood 140 0

  10,823 4,477

Year Built: 2000
Living Area: 1,650
Replacement Cost: $153,450

Building 2 : Section 1

http://images.vgsi.com/photos2/PortsmouthNHPhotos///0033/DSC01732_33185.JPG
http://gis.vgsi.com/PortsmouthNH/ParcelSketch.ashx?pid=35416&bid=35416


Building Percent Good: 84
Replacement Cost 
Less Depreciation: $128,900

Building Attributes : Bldg 2 of 2

Field Description

Style: Service Shop

Model Commercial

Grade C

Stories: 1

Occupancy 1.00

Residential Units  

Exterior Wall 1 Vinyl Siding

Exterior Wall 2  

Roof Structure Gable/Hip

Roof Cover Asph/F Gls/Cmp

Interior Wall 1 Drywall/Sheet

Interior Wall 2  

Interior Floor 1 Concr-Finished

Interior Floor 2 Carpet

Heating Fuel Oil

Heating Type Hot Water

AC Type None

Bldg Use AUTO S S&S

Total Rooms  

Total Bedrms  

Total Baths  

Kitchen Grd  

Heat/AC NONE

Frame Type WOOD FRAME

Baths/Plumbing AVERAGE

Ceiling/Wall CEIL & WALLS

Rooms/Prtns AVERAGE

Wall Height 12.00

% Comn Wall  

1st Floor Use:  

Class  

Legend

Building Photo

Building Photo
(http://images.vgsi.com/photos2/PortsmouthNHPhotos///0033/DSC01731_3

Building Layout

(ParcelSketch.ashx?pid=35416&bid=40140)

Building Sub-Areas (sq ft)

Code Description
Gross 
Area

Living 
Area

BAS First Floor 1,500 1,500

FAT Attic 600 150

SLB Slab 900 0

  3,000 1,650

Legend

Extra Features

Extra Features

http://images.vgsi.com/photos2/PortsmouthNHPhotos///0033/DSC01731_33186.JPG
http://gis.vgsi.com/PortsmouthNH/ParcelSketch.ashx?pid=35416&bid=40140


Land Use

Use Code 0310
Description PRI COMM  
Zone SRA
Neighborhood 306
Alt Land Appr No
Category

Land Line Valuation

Size (Acres) 1.93
Frontage
Depth
Assessed Value $275,200
Appraised Value $275,200

Legend

(c) 2022 Vision Government Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

 
No Data for Extra Features  

 

Land

Outbuildings

Outbuildings

Code Description Sub Code Sub Description Size Value Bldg #

PAV1 PAVING-ASPHALT   1344.00 S.F. $1,200 1

SHD1 SHED FRAME   96.00 S.F. $100 1

Valuation History

Appraisal

Valuation Year Improvements Land Total

2020 $418,400 $275,200 $693,600

2019 $418,400 $275,200 $693,600

2018 $391,100 $254,800 $645,900

Assessment

Valuation Year Improvements Land Total

2020 $418,400 $275,200 $693,600

2019 $418,400 $275,200 $693,600

2018 $391,100 $254,800 $645,900



City of Portsmouth, NH March 28, 2022

635 Sagamo re Avenue

Property Information
Property
ID

0222-0019-0000

Location 635 SAGAMORE AVE
Owner 635 SAGAMORE DEVELOPMENT

LLC

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no
warranties, expressed or implied, concerning the
validity or accuracy of the GIS data presented on this
map.

Geometry updated 3/9/2022
Data updated 3/9/2022

Print map scale is approximate. Critical
layout or measurement activities should not
be done using this resource.

1" = 200 ft

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



 

1 | P a g e  
 

WHITE APPRAISAL_____________  

REAL ESTATE APPRAISING & CONSULTING        Brian W. White, MAI, SRA 

 
 
October 28, 2022     

 
Timothy Phoenix, Esquire 
Hoefle, Phoenix, Gormley & Roberts, PLLC 
127 Parrott Avenue 
P.O. Box 4480 
Portsmouth, NH  03802-4480 
 

RE:  The Variance application for a four-unit freestanding single-family development to be 
         located on 635 Sagamore Avenue in Portsmouth, New Hampshire.       

 
Attorney Phoenix:     
At your request, I have been asked to investigate the impact on the value of the abutting properties 
for the proposed four-unit freestanding single-family development to be located on 635 Sagamore 
Avenue (Map 222, Lot 19) and to prepare an analysis and opinion on the matter.  I have reviewed 
the Portsmouth Zoning Ordinance that addresses the standards for the requested variance. To 
prepare this letter, I have completed research on the proposed subject property, the neighborhood 
and the Portsmouth marketplace.  The following letter summarizes my analysis, findings and 
conclusions: 
 

1. The Existing Development: 

 

The subject property is a 1,947-acre parcel of land located on the southern side of Sagamore 
Avenue in the Single Residence A (SRA) zone.  The subject property is currently improved 
with an older 4,477 square-foot, mixed-use, building that contains a first-floor commercial 
garage unit and two upper-level apartments and an older 1,650 square-foot, one-story, two-
bay, garage building.  The improvements were constructed in 1950 and 2000 and they appear 
to be in below average overall condition for the Sagamore Avenue area.  The front portion of 
the parcel has paved drive and parking areas.  The existing development utilizes 
approximately the front third of the parcel with the central and rear areas of the parcel being 
treed with a large number of evergreens and some deciduous trees.  The terrain for the parcel 
has a natural downward slope in a northeast to southwest direction.  The parcel is serviced 
with municipal water, electricity, telephone, natural gas, cable and internet.  The central and 
rear portions of the parcel have several rock outcroppings.   There are no wetland areas 
located on the parcel.   
 

2. The Proposed Development: 

 

The two older wood-frame buildings will be razed and a new paved drive will be installed 
off of Sagamore Avenue in the northeastern portion of the subject’s parcel.  This paved drive 
will extend into the central portion of the parcel providing access to four freestanding single-
family residences.  There will be a vehicle turn-around located at the end of the drive area.  

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT F



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Each of the single-family residences will have a front paved driveway that will provide 
access to a two-car garage.  The residences will each contain two levels of finished living 
area with the three centrally located residences having a walk-out basement area given the 
natural sloping terrain.  The units will have quality interior and exterior finishes that are 
commensurate with other similar new construction residences located in Portsmouth.  Based 
on the proposed building plans, the proposed single- family residences will contain from 
2,111 square feet to 2,349 square feet (2,230 SF average).  The single-family homes will be 
surrounded by landscaped and grassed areas and there will be a rear patio area.  There will be 
plantings located to the rear of the residences providing additional screening from abutting 
properties.  According to Michael Garrepy, Consultant to the ownership of 635 Sagamore 
Development, LLC, the anticipated retail prices for the four proposed single-family 
residences will range from approximately $1,000,000 to $1,200,000.   

 
3.  Neighborhood & Abutting Properties: 

 

The subject property is located in a large Single Residence A (SRA) zone and the land 
located directly across from the subject property on Sagamore Avenue is zoned Single 
Residence B (SRB).   Both of these zones allow for single-family dwellings with a few other 
uses allowed as a conditional use or a special exception.  Directly abutting the subject 
property on Sagamore Avenue are two single-family residences (Circa 1940 & 1964) that are 
small two-bedroom residences with a one-car garage.  There are three single-family 
residences (Circa 1890, 1940 & 1985) located across Sagamore Avenue from the subject 
property.  These residences range in size from a 1,248 square foot one-bedroom residence to 
a 2,861 square foot three-bedroom residence.  In general, these abutting and nearby single-
family residences are in average to above average overall condition.  None of these nearby 
single-family residences have sold within the past several years.  The average assessment for 
these five nearby single-family residences is approximately $460,000.  The Tidewatch 
Condominium development is a 116-unit single-family condominium development located at 
579 Sagamore Avenue.  The entry road for this development abuts the rear portion of the 
subject property to the south of the subject property.  These townhouse style units were 
constructed beginning in the late 1980s and they are generally in above average to good 
overall condition.  Over the past two years, units in this development have sold from 
$650,000 to $1,240,000 with an average sale price of approximately $815,000.   
 

4. Factors that impact Value and the Application to the Subject Property:  

 
For the subject property, there are three potential factors that could directly impact the 
market value of the abutting properties.  These factors are noise, view and use.   
 
Noise: 

 
It was previously noted that the proposed subject property will contain a single-entry drive 
and four freestanding single-family residences.  Two of the subject’s proposed residences 
will be located in the front third of the parcel along Sagamore Avenue while three of the 
proposed residences will be located in the center portion of the parcel.  The rear third of the 
parcel will remain undeveloped and treed.  At the present time, the subject’s improvements 
contain a mixture of apartment units and two commercial units each containing garage space 
along with supporting drive and parking areas for business related vehicles.  At the present 
time, the noises emitted from the subject property are from residential tenants entering and 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

exiting their apartment units and from vehicular traffic entering and exiting from the parking 
area.  There are also likely noises from the car doors opening and closing.  In addition, there 
are noises from the commercial garage work being completed along with the garage doors 
opening and closing.  The subject’s proposed residential development will contain a single 
paved drive (ingress and egress) that will extend into the center portion of the parcel.  It is 
noted that given the sloping terrain of the parcel, the developed areas of the parcel will be 
located approximately 20 to 30 feet higher than the Tidewatch Condominium access road 
which is located to the rear of the subject’s parcel.  The vehicle noise from the proposed 
development will likely be somewhat similar to that currently emitted by the existing 
development.  One difference is that the subject’s proposed development will have a road 
extending into the center portion of the parcel and another difference is that each residential 
unit will have a two-car garage.  The longer entry drive will bring vehicles into the center 
portion of the parcel which will likely slightly increase vehicle noise.  The fact that each 
residential unit has a two-car garage will likely decrease the noise from opening and closing 
of car doors as they will largely be contained in garage areas as opposed to the current 
situation of many vehicles being parked outside.  These differences will likely be off-setting.  
There will obviously be additional noise from the use and maintenance of the four single-
family residences.  However, these noises are no different than what is currently heard from 
the abutting and surrounding residences.  The typical buyer of a property located in close 
proximity to the subject property would be aware of this potential.  Considering all of these 
factors, it is reasonable to conclude that the proposed four-unit single-family development of 
the subject property will be configured in such a manner that there would not be an increase 
in non-residential noises that would be over and above that of any other permitted uses in the 
“SRA” and “SRB” zones.      
 
View: 

 

At the present time, the subject’s combined mixed-use (commercial garage, apartments and 
exterior parking areas) development is very visible from the road traffic and the abutting 
residences located along Sagamore Avenue.  It is visible in the distance with a heavy wooded 
screen from the Tidewatch Condominium access road and from the front areas of several 
townhouse-style condominium units in the development.  From the front and central portions 
of the subject property, the two abutting older single-family residences area visible along 
with the three residences located across Sagamore Avenue to the north, east and west.  To 
the south, the access road for the Tidewatch Condominium development is visible in the 
distance with a heavy wooded screen.   
 
The existing mixed-use development of the subject property is an average condition 
development that some would consider to be an eyesore for the mostly above average to 
good condition residential neighborhood of the subject property.  There is no screening of 
these mixed-use buildings and the supporting drive and parking areas from Sagamore 
Avenue.  The proposed four-unit residential development will have a single paved drive 
located in the eastern portion of the parcel.  The front building will be setback further from 
Sagamore Avenue than the existing mixed-use building and it will be surrounded by grassed 
and landscaped areas.  A second single-family residence will be located approximately 25’ to 
the rear of the front residence.  The proposed subject property will greatly enhance the views 
from the neighboring single-family residences located along Sagamore Avenue.  The 
subject’s two rear detached single-family residences will be located in the central portion of 
the parcel which is currently undeveloped woods.  These two detached residences will be 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

visible from the rear yard areas of the two abutting single-family residences and they will be 
visible in the distance from the front parking and building areas of several townhouse-style 
condominium units located in the Tidewatch Condominium development.  The front portion 
of the development that abuts 607 Sagamore Avenue will contain a new 6’ vinyl fence and 
new screening that will include Giant Arborvitae and Greenspire Littleleaf Linden trees.  The 
western and southern developed areas that face the Tidewatch condominium access road will 
have additional screening that will include Canadian Hemlock, Eastern White Pine, Norway 
Spruce, Chanticleer Callery Pear, Sweetgum and Cherry trees.  This fencing along with the 
proposed enhanced screening has been designed to provide additional screening from 
neighboring properties.  Additionally, the rear portion of the property will remain 
undeveloped leaving the natural wooded screen in place.  The views of several nearby 
residential properties will change but not to the extent that any negative impact will result.  It 
could be argued that the views of the neighboring properties will be enhanced by replacing 
the older average condition mixed-use development and asphalt drive and parking lot with 
new construction freestanding single-family residences that will be in very good condition 
with retail values that will exceed that of all the neighboring properties.    
 
Use: 

 
The subject property is proposed for use as a four-unit freestanding single-family 
development.  In the surrounding neighborhood, the Sagamore Avenue area is developed 
with a variety of residential uses (single-family, residential condominiums and apartments) 
and several scattered commercial and mixed-use developments.  The interior streets located 
off of Sagamore Avenue are largely developed with residential uses.  The proposed single-
family development of the subject property will be in-line with that of the surrounding uses.   
In the Variance application, it is pointed out that the abutting Tidewatch Condominium 
development to the south and west is also located in the SRA zone.  This townhouse-style 
condominium development contains 116 units located on 53.59 acres of land.  This translates 
into a density of 2.16-units per acre.  Sagamore Court Condominiums to the north of the 
subject property on Sagamore Avenue is a 144-unit development on 15.01-acres (9.59-
units/acre).  The subject’s proposed 4 units will be located on a 1.947-acre parcel (2.05-
units/acre).  Considering the density of these abutting and nearby residential condominium 
developments, the subject’s proposed density is reasonably in-line with the existing density 
in the immediate area.  It can reasonably be concluded that the proposed use of the subject 
property as a four-unit freestanding single-family development is a use that will be 
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. 
 

5. Specific Standards – Variances:   

 
The owners are requesting a Variance from the following – Portsmouth Zoning Ordinance – 
10.513 - Permitting one freestanding dwelling per lot, where four freestanding single-family 
units are proposed) and Portsmouth Zoning Ordinance – Table of Dimensional Standards – 
permitting one dwelling unit per acre, where four dwelling units on a 1.947-acre parcel is 
proposed (2.05 dwelling units per acre).  As Rosann Maurice-Lentz was unavailable for 
comment, I spoke with Scott Scott, Tax Assessor II for the City of Portsmouth.  I wanted to 
get his opinion on the subject’s proposed freestanding single-family development and that of 
several other recently proposed or recently constructed multi-unit residential developments 
located in the Sagamore Avenue area.  He stated that he is very familiar with the Sagamore 
Avenue area.  He indicated that the fact that the subject’s units are freestanding units, and not 



 

5 | P a g e  
 

multi-unit buildings, makes them more attractive overall.  Additionally, he stated that he 
doesn’t “think that this development would bring down the surrounding values and it would 
more likely bring them up”.  I have attempted to gather market sales data from the 
Portsmouth area that would speak to the change in permitted units where freestanding single-
family homes were permitted and possible value changes.  In the greater Portsmouth area, 
there is no exactly similar property from which to extract paired-sales. Therefore, only 
general observations can be made based on my experience in the marketplace.  Over the past 
several years in the greater Sagamore Avenue area of Portsmouth, several new multi-unit 
residential developments have been constructed or are currently proposed.  In general, the 
addition of these new residential  developments has resulted in upgrading the overall 
condition of the neighborhood and therefore enhancing the overall desirability of the area.   
 
It is my opinion that granting the requested variance for the subject property to be improved 
with a four-unit freestanding single-family development would not result in the diminution 
in value of the abutting property values in the immediate vicinity of the subject property and 
the proposed subject property would not change the characteristics of the neighborhood.  In 
fact, the addition of the proposed subject property will add several attractive and modern 
single-family residences to the neighborhood that very well could enhance the value of the 
surrounding properties as it will add a new residential units to a location that is currently 
under improved for the area. 
 

Respectively submitted,  

 
    

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDA 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

7 | P a g e  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
 Transmittal Letter       1-5 
 
 Addenda       6 
 
 Table of Contents      7 
 
 Photographs       8-17 
 
 Portsmouth Assessor’s Card     18-21 
 
 Deed        22-23 
 
 Aerial View       24 
 
 Assessor’s Map      25 
 
 Zoning Map       26-27 
 
 Flood Map       28 
 
 Zoning Information      29-48  
 

Variance Application      49-82 
 
Site Buffer Plan      83 
 
Certificate       84 
 
Qualifications of the Appraiser    85-87 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

8 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY  
 

 
 

Street Scene - Front of the Subject Property  
Looking Southeast on Sagamore Avenue - (5/22) 

 

 
 

Street Scene - Front of the Subject Property  
Looking Southeast on Sagamore Avenue - (5/22) 

 
 



 

9 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY  
 

 
 

Street Scene - Rear of the Subject Property  
Looking Southeast on Tidewatch Condominium Access Road - (2/22) 

 

 
 

 Street Scene - Rear of the Subject Property  
Looking Northwest on Tidewatch Condominium Access Road - (5/22) 

 
 



 

10 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY  
 

 
 

Subject Property – Front of the Property  
Looking Southwest from across Sagamore Avenue – (5/22)  

 

 
 

Subject Property – Front of the Property and the Front Mixed-use Building  
Looking Southeast from High Street – (5/22)  

 
 



 

11 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY  
 

 
 

Subject Property – Rear of the Front Mixed-use Building  
Looking East from Rear Paved Area – (5/22)  

 

 
 

Subject Property – Front of the Rear Garage Building   
Looking Southwest from Paved Drive Area – (5/22)  

 
 



 

12 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY  
 

 
 

Subject Property – Rear of the Rear Garage Building   
Looking Northeast from Rear Wooded Area – (5/22)  

 

 
 

View of the Rear of the Subject Property from Tidewatch Condominium Access Road 
Looking Northeast - (5/22) 

 
 



 

13 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT/SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

View of the Rear of the Subject Property from Tidewatch Condominium Access Road 
Looking East - (5/22) 

 

 
 

View of Typical Tidewatch Condominium Building  
Looking South from Access Road - (5/22) 

 
 



 

14 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SUBJECT/SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

View of Tidewatch Access Road from rear of Proposed Residences  
Looking South - (5/22) 

 

 
 

View of Tidewatch Access Road from rear of Proposed Residences  
Looking Southwest - (5/22) 

 
 



 

15 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

View of Abutting Residence at 607 Sagamore Road   
Looking Southwest from Front of the Subject Property - (5/22) 

 

 
 

View of Abutting Residence at 695 Sagamore Road   
Looking Southeast from Sagamore Road to the Front of the Subject Property - (5/22) 

 
 



 

16 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

View of Residence located across Sagamore Road - 594 Sagamore Road 
Looking North from Sagamore Road to the Front of the Subject Property - (5/22) 

 

 
 

View of Residence located across Sagamore Road - 650 Sagamore Road 
Looking Northeast from Sagamore Road to the Front of the Subject Property - (5/22) 

 
 



 

17 | P a g e  
 

PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

View of Residence located across Sagamore Road - 692 Sagamore Road 
Looking East from Sagamore Road to the Front of the Subject Property - (5/22) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

18 | P a g e  
 



 

19 | P a g e  
 



 

20 | P a g e  
 



 

21 | P a g e  
 



 

22 | P a g e  
 



 

23 | P a g e  
 



 

24 | P a g e  
 



 

25 | P a g e  
 



 

26 | P a g e  
 



 

27 | P a g e  
 



 

28 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 



 

29 | P a g e  
 



 3
0

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
1

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
2

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
3

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
4

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
5

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
6

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
7

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
8

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 3
9

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
0

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
1

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
2

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
3

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
4

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
5

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
6

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
7

 | P
a

g
e

 
 



 4
8

 | P
a

g
e

 
 

 
         



 

49 | P a g e  
 



 

50 | P a g e  
 



 

51 | P a g e  
 



 

52 | P a g e  
 



 

53 | P a g e  
 



 

54 | P a g e  
 



 

55 | P a g e  
 



 

56 | P a g e  
 



 

57 | P a g e  
 



 

58 | P a g e  
 



 

59 | P a g e  
 



 

60 | P a g e  
 



 

61 | P a g e  
 



 

62 | P a g e  
 



 

63 | P a g e  
 



 

64 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 



 

65 | P a g e  
 



 

66 | P a g e  
 



 

67 | P a g e  
 



 

68 | P a g e  
 



 

69 | P a g e  
 



 

70 | P a g e  
 



 

71 | P a g e  
 



 

72 | P a g e  
 



 

73 | P a g e  
 



 

74 | P a g e  
 



 

75 | P a g e  
 



 

76 | P a g e  
 



 

77 | P a g e  
 



 

78 | P a g e  
 



 

79 | P a g e  
 



 

80 | P a g e  
 



 

81 | P a g e  
 



 

82 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 



 

83 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 



 

84 | P a g e  
 

 

WHITE APPRAISAL_____________  

REAL ESTATE APPRAISING & CONSULTING        Brian W. White, MAI, SRA 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

I do hereby certify that, except as otherwise noted in this report: 
1. the statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct; 
2. the reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions 

and limiting conditions and are my personal, unbiased professional analyses, opinions and 
conclusions; 

3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property which is the subject of this report 
and I have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved; 

4. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties 
involved with this assignment; 

5. my engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results; 

6. my compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, 
the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a 
subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal; 

7. my analysis, opinions, and conclusions, were developed, and this report has been prepared in 
conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice; 

8. Brian W. White, MAI, SRA a made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject 
of this report; 

9. no one has provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the persons signing this 
certification;  

10. I have prepared no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property 
that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately preceding 
acceptance of this assignment; 

11. the reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics & Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute; 

12. the use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives; 

13. as of the date of this report, Brian W. White, MAI, SRA, has completed the continuing 
education program for Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute. 
 

Respectively submitted,  

     
 

130 VARNEY ROAD ▪ DOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03820 ▪ BRIANWMAI@AOL.COM ▪ (603) 742-5925 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 



 

85 | P a g e  
 

 
Qualifications of the Appraiser     Brian W. White, MAI, SRA 
 

Professional Designations:  

 Member, Appraisal Institute (MAI) – Awarded by the Appraisal Institute.  MAI #9104 
 Senior  Residential Appraiser (SRA)                
 
Employment: 

1989 to Present White Appraisal – Dover, NH 
   President – Senior Appraiser 
   Owner of White Appraisal, a commercial and residential 
   real estate appraisal firm. Complete appraisals on all 
   types of commercial and residential properties.  
   Consulting. 
 

1988 Finlay Appraisal Services – Portsmouth, NH 
  Senior Vice President/Chief Operations Officer 
  Oversaw the operation of four appraisal offices. Completed commercial 
  and residential appraisals on all types of properties. 

 
1985 Finlay Appraisal Services – Portsmouth, NH 
  and Appraisal Services Manager – South Portland, ME.  

Completed commercial and residential appraisals on all types of 
properties. 

 
Education: 

   Mitchell College  
    Associate of Arts, Liberal Studies, 1979 
 
   University of Southern Maine 
             Bachelors of Science, Business Admin., 1984 
       Bus  022     Real Estate Law 
       Bus  023     Real Estate Practice 
       Bus  025     Real Estate Valuation 
 
   American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers 
    1A-1  Real Estate Appraisal Principles, 1985 
    1A-2  Basic Valuation Procedures, 1985 
    1B-A  Cap. Theory and Technique (A), 1985 
    1B-B  Cap. Theory and Technique (B), 1985 

2-3 Standards of Pro. Practice, 1985 
Exam #7 Industrial Valuation, 1986 

 
   Society of Real Estate Appraisers 
      101 Intro. To Appraising Real Property, 1986                         
      102 Applied Residential Property Val., 1987 
      201 Prin. Of Income Property Appraising, 1985 
      202 Applied Income Property Valuation, 1985  
 



 

86 | P a g e  
 

 

Education (Continued): 
   USPAP Update- 2017 

USPAP Update- 2019 
Business Practices & Ethics- 2021 
USPAP 2022/2023 Update- 2021 

Recent Seminars:  
Current Use - 2018    
Real Estate Damages Overview - 2018 
Understanding and Using Public Data - 2018 
Appraising Energy Efficient Residential Properties – 2018 
Commercial Real Estate Roundtable – 2019 
Appraiser Essentials with CRS and Green Fields – 2019 
Land Development & Residential Building Costs – 2019 
Myths in Appraiser Liability – 2019 
Appraising in Uncertain Times – 2019 
Market Trends in NH Real Estate – 2020 
Appraising Commercial Properties during a Pandemic – 2020 
Defining the Appraisal Problem: Sleuthing for the Approaches to Value- 2021 

       Forest Valuation- 2021 
       Appraiser Essentials Paragon MLS- 2021  
       Residential Building Systems- 2021 
                  2021-2022 NH Market Insights- 2021 
       Implications for Appraisers of Conservation Easement Appraisals- 2022 

      NH’s Housing Market & Covid: What a Long, Strange Road It’s Been!- 2022 
Appointments: 

 Board of Directors – New Hampshire Chapter of the Appraisal 
             Institute - 1991 to 1993; 2000 to 2010 and 2015-2018 

Vice President - New Hampshire Chapter of the Appraisal Institute – 2011-2012 & 2019 
President – New Hampshire Chapter of the Appraisal Institute – 2013 & 2014 

Experience: 

 Review Chairperson – New Hampshire Chapter of the Appraisal 
    Institute – 1994 to 2010 
Licenses: 

 N.H. Certified General Appraiser #NHCG -52, Expires 4/30/2023 

Partial List of Clients: 
 Banks:     Attorneys:  Others: 
 Androscoggin Bank    John Colliander  City of Dover 
 Granite Bank                   Karyn Forbes  Town of Durham 
 Federal Savings Bank   Michael Donahue               University of New Hampshire 
 Sovereign Bank     Richard Krans  Wentworth-Douglass  
 Eastern Bank    Simone Massy  The Homemakers    
 Century Bank         Samuel Reid  Strafford Health Alliance 
 TD Bank    Daniel Schwartz  Goss International 
 Kennebunk Savings Bank   Robert Shaines  Chad Kageleiry 
 Northeast Federal Credit Union  William Shaheen  Gary Levy 
 Profile Bank     Steve Soloman  Stan Robbins 
 Peoples United Bank   Gerald Giles  Daniel Philbrick 

Key Bank    Ralph Woodman  Keith Frizzell 
Optima Bank and Trust   Gayle Braley  Chuck Cressy 
Provident Bank    Fred Forman  John Proulx 



 

87 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 



6  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 

B. The rehearing of the request of Jeffrey M. and Melissa Foy (Owners), for 
property located at 67 Ridges Court whereas relief is needed for construction 
of a 518 square foot garage addition and expansion of front dormer which 
requires the following: 1) A variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 14 foot 
front yard where 19 feet is required per Section 10.516.10. 2) A Variance from 
Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, 
reconstructed, or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the 
Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 207 Lot 59 and lies 
within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-22-199) 

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing 

 
Proposed 
 

Permitted / Required  

Land Use:  Single family Garage 
addition 

Primarily single 
residence 

 

Lot area (sq. ft.):  16,500 16,500 15,000 min. 
Lot area per dwelling 
(sq. ft.): 

16,500 16,500 15,000 min. 

Lot depth (ft): 109 109 100  min. 
Street Frontage (ft.):  164 164 100  min. 
Primary Front Yard 
(ft.): 

8 14 30 *(19 feet per front 
yard averaging)  

 min. 

Left Yard (ft.): 10 9.5 10  min. 
Right Yard (ft.): 95 >67 10 
Rear Yard (ft.): 40 40 30 min. 
Height (ft.): <35 <35 35 max. 
Building Coverage (%): 14 17.5 20 max. 
Open Space Coverage 
(%): 

73 77 40 min. 

Parking: 4 4 2  
Estimated Age of 
Structure: 

2002 Variance request(s) shown in red. 
 

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
• Wetland CUP – Conservation Commission & Planning Board 
• Building Permit 

 
  



7  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 
 

  

Aerial Map 

Zoning Map 



8  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
July 15, 1986 – the Board granted a Variance to permit the construction of a 20’ x 20’ 
addition onto an existing single family dwelling with a front yard of 9’ where a 30’ front yard 
is required.  
 
August 20, 2002 – The Board considered request for the following Variance: Article III, 
Section 10-302(A) and Article IV, Section 10-401(A)(2)(c) is requested to allow a 5’9” x 10’3” 
front porch/entry with an 8’1” front yard where 30’ is the minimum required The Board voted 
the request be granted as advertised and presented.  
 
October 15, 2002 – The Board considered request for the following Variance: Article III, 
Section 10-302(A) is requested to allow the existing single family dwelling to be demolished 
and rebuilt with a 13’11” front yard where 30’ is the minimum required The Board voted the 
request be granted as advertised and presented. 
 
July 19, 2022 - Relief is needed to construct a 718 square foot garage addition with living 
space and deck above which requires the following:  
1) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow a 15.5' front yard where 30' is required.  
2) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be 
extended, reconstructed or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the 
Ordinance. Said property is located on Assessor Map 2074 Lot 59 and is located within the 
single residence B (SRB) District. 
The Board voted to grant the request to postpone to the August meeting. 
 
August 16, 2022 The Board voted to deny the request of July 19, 2022 because there was 
no hardship. 
 
September 27, 2022 – The Board voted to grant the following with the exception of item “b” 
which was determined to not be required: 
Section 10.521 to allow a) an 8' front yard where 30' is required to expand the existing front 
porch; b) a 13.5 foot front yard where 30 is required to expand the main roof of the house; c) 
a 13.5 foot front yard where 30 feet is required for a new roof over an existing doorway; and 
d) a 9.5 foot left side yard where 10 feet is required for a new rood over an existing doorway.  
Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be extended, reconstructed 
or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance 
 
October 18, 2022 – The Board voted to postpone to the November meeting. 
 
November 15, 2022 - The Board voted to determine if Fisher v. Dover applied to this 
application. A motion to determine that the petition does not fall under Fisher v. Dover failed, 
therefore the request was not heard. 
 
January 17, 2023 – The Board voted to deny the request for rehearing. 



9  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

February 22, 2023 – The Board voted to reconsider the request for rehearing based on the 
arguments raised in Attorney Phoenix’s memo and to grant the rehearing. 

Planning Department Comments 
The application currently before the Board is the same as was submitted for the November 
15, 2022 public hearing. 
 
Staff feels this is a significant enough change that would not evoke Fisher v. Dover, but the 
Board may want to consider whether Fisher vs. Dover is applicable before this application is 
considered.   
 
“When a material change of circumstances affecting the merits of the applications has not 
occurred or the application is not for a use that materially differs in nature and degree from 
its predecessor, the board of adjustment may not lawfully reach the merits of the petition. If it 
were otherwise, there would be no finality to proceedings before the board of adjustment, 
the integrity of the zoning plan would be threatened, and an undue burden would be placed 
on property owners seeking to uphold the zoning plan.” Fisher v. Dover, 120 N.H. 187, 
(1980). 
The applicant was before the Board in August for a garage addition that was subsequently 
denied by the Board.  The applicant has revised the scope of work from a 718 square foot 
two car garage to a 518 square foot one car garage addition.  On the original plan there was 
a deck  
 
After the current application was submitted, a survey of the front yards of adjacent 
properties was completed to determine the average front yard under Section 10.516.10.  
The results show an average front yard of 19 feet.  The applicant is proposing to enlarge the 
existing from dormer, which requires a variance.  This was not part of the original application 
in October.   

  



10  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

August 2022 Application: 

 
 

 
 



11  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Current Application: 

 
 

 
 



12  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

 (a)The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist between 

the general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific application of that 
provision to the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 

Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance 
with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a reasonable use of it. 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance. 

  





















MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT A





FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

GARAGE ADDITION
89'-6 3/4"

9
'-
0

 1
/2

"
1

0
'-
5

 1
/4

"

FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

9
'-
0

 1
/2

"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

GARAGE
96'-7"

FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

LOWER LEVEL
90'-6 3/4"

+
/-

 9
'-
0

 1
/2

"
+

/-
 9

'-
5

 1
/4

"

© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

1/8" = 1'-0"

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

ELEVATIONSFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION
1/8" = 1'-0"

1
PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION EXISTING WEST ELEVATION

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT B - REV. 2



FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

LOWER LEVEL
90'-6 3/4"

KITCHEN
98'-3"

GARAGE ADDITION
89'-6 3/4"

1
0

'-
9

 1
/2

"

FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

GARAGE ADDITION
89'-6 3/4"

9
'-
0

 1
/2

"
1

0
'-
5

 1
/4

"

1
9

' S
E
TB

A
C

K
 L

IN
E

FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

LOWER LEVEL
90'-6 3/4"

KITCHEN
98'-3"

+
/-

 9
'-
0

 1
/2

"
+

/-
 9

'-
5

 1
/4

"

ADDITION

FOUNDATION
86'-9 53/64"

FIRST FLOOR
100'-0"

SECOND FLOOR
109'-0 1/2"

LOWER LEVEL
90'-6 3/4"

KITCHEN
98'-3"

9
'-
5

 1
/4

"
9

'-
0

 1
/2

"

© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

1/8" = 1'-0"

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

ELEVATIONSFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

1/8" = 1'-0"
4

PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION
1/8" = 1'-0"

3
PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION EXISTING EAST ELEVATION



© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

PERSPECTIVESFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

PROPOSED REAR PERSPECTIVEPROPOSED FRONT VIEW



DN

UP

DN

DN

UP

3

4

2

1

EXISTING REC.

ROOM

5'-6" x 5'-0"
NEW 1/2 BATH

GARAGEUNEXCAVATED CRAWL SPACE

BASEMENT HALL

90'-6 3/4"

91'-7 1/4"

LINE OF PORCH ABOVE

LINE OF 

PORCH ABOVE

LINE OF ROOF ABOVE

12'-8"

2
6

'-
1

 1
/4

"

1
'-
1

0
"

2
7

'-
1

1
 1

/4
"

19' SETBACK LINE

LINE OF PORCH ABOVE

LINE OF PORCH ABOVE

UNEXCAVATED

RECREATION

ROOMCRAWLSPACE

BASEMENT HALL

© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

1/8" = 1'-0"

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

FLOOR PLANFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

PROPOSED LOWER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

EXISTING LOWER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

N



DN

DN DN

UP

DN

DN

DN

DN DN

UP

DN

DN

3

4

2

1

COVERED ENTRY

ENTRY

LIVING ROOM

PORCH

19'-8" x 8'-8"

SCREENED

PORCH

KITCHEN

GARAGE

MUDROOM

POWDER ROOM

COATS

PANTRY

R
E
F

CLOSET

UPPER STORAGE 89'-8 95/128"

100'-0"

98'-0"

98'-3"

LINE OF 

ROOF ABOVE

TRELLIS 

ABOVE
DECK

EXISTING STONE 

RETAINING WALL

7'-3" 13'-4"

1
6

'-
9

"
2

'-
0

"
STRUCTURE ABOVE

19' SETBACK LINE

COVERED ENTRY

GARAGE
EXISTING LIVING

ROOM

MUDROOM

PANTRY

KITCHEN

PORCH

CLOSET

POWDER ROOM

COATS

R
E
FUPPER STORAGE

© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

1/8" = 1'-0"

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

FLOOR PLANFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN

N



DN

DN

3

4

2

1

MASTER

BEDROOM

W.I.C.

OPEN TO BELOW

SKYLIGHTS ABOVE

BEDROOM 1

LAUNDRY

BEDROOM 2

BATH 2

W.I.C.
BATH 1

HALL

W.I.C.

109'-0 1/2"

4
'-
0

"
6

'-
7

"
2

'-
8

"

12'-3"

CL

6'-8" 7'-0" 5'-4" 7'-10"

MASTER BATH

W.I.C.

19' SETBACK LINE

OPEN TO BELOW

SKYLIGHTS ABOVE

LINE OF CEILING 

CHANGES ABOVE

BUILT-IN

MASTER

BEDROOM

MASTER BATH

LAUNDRY

W.I.C.

BEDROOM 1

W.I.C.

BATH

HALL

CLOSET

BEDROOM DECKCLOSET

BEDROOM 2

© 2022

SCHEMATIC DESIGN FOR 

1/8" = 1'-0"

21177

OCTOBER 11, 2022

FLOOR PLANFOY RESIDENCE
67 RIDGES CT
PORTSMOUTH, NH

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN

EXISTING SECOND FLOOR PLAN

N



Imagery ©2022 Maine GeoLibrary, Maxar Technologies, U.S. Geological Survey, Map data ©2022 50 ft 

67 Ridges Ct

MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT C



Imagery ©2022 Maine GeoLibrary, U.S. Geological Survey, Map data ©2022 20 ft 

67 Ridges Ct



Image capture: Sep 2011 © 2022 Google

Portsmouth, New Hampshire

 Google

Street View - Sep 2011

67 Ridges Ct

https://www.google.com/streetview
https://www.google.com/streetview


Image capture: Sep 2011 © 2022 Google

Portsmouth, New Hampshire

 Google

Street View - Sep 2011

67 Ridges Ct

https://www.google.com/streetview
https://www.google.com/streetview


Image capture: Sep 2011 © 2022 Google

Portsmouth, New Hampshire

 Google

Street View - Sep 2011

67 Ridges Ct

https://www.google.com/streetview
https://www.google.com/streetview












MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

MKieser
Text Box
1



MKieser
Text Box
2



MKieser
Text Box
3



MKieser
Text Box
4



MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT F





MKieser
Text Box
EXHIBIT G































































EXHIBIT B-REV. 3

MWhelan
Highlight















13  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 
C. The request of Michael Knight (Owner), for property located at 55 Mangrove 

Street whereas relief is needed to replace existing 6 foot chain link fence with 
8 foot cedar fence which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 
10.515.13 to allow an 8 foot fence on the rear and side lot lines where a 6 foot 
maximum is allowed. Said property is located on Assessor Map 219 Lot 7 and 
lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-23-15) 

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing 

 
Proposed 
 

Permitted / Required  

Land Use:  Single-family 8-foot fence Primarily residential  
Lot area (sq. ft.):  9,583 9,583 15,000 min. 
Lot Area per Dwelling 
Unit (sq. ft.): 

9,583 9,583 15,000 min. 

Lot depth (ft): 162 162 100  min. 
Street Frontage (ft.):  60 60 100  min. 
Primary Front Yard 
(ft.): 

37 37 30  min. 

Right Yard (ft.): 8 8/0 (fence) 10  min. 
Left Yard (ft.): 20 20/0 (fence) 10 
Rear Yard (ft.): 82 82/0 (fence) 30 min. 
Height (ft.): <35 <35 

8’ (fence) 
35 
6’ (fence) 

max. 

Building Coverage 
(%): 

14.5 14.5 20 max. 

Open Space 
Coverage (%): 

>40 >40 40 min. 

Parking: 2 2 2  
Estimated Age of 
Structure: 

1958  Variance request(s) shown in red. 
 

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
• Building Permit 

 
  



14  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 
 

 

Aerial Map 

Zoning Map 



15  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
April 26, 1988 – Relief from Zoning Ordinance including: 

Variance from Article III, Section 10-302 requested to permit construction of a 10’x 
21’ deck and 7’x 8’ landing with stairs with a 6’ right yard in a district where a 10’ yard 
is required. 
Applicant withdrew the request in writing the night of the meeting.  

Planning Department Comments 

The applicant is requesting a variance to allow an 8 foot fence along the side and rear lot 
lines as shown in the highlighted plan in the application.  Per Section 10.515.13, a 6-foot 
fence is the maximum allowed along the rear and side yard of any property.      

 

Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

(a) The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist 

between the general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific 
application of that provision to the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 
Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict 
conformance with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a 
reasonable use of it. 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance. 

 
  



Michael Knight 
55 Mangrove St. 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
 
2/28/2023 
 
City of Portsmouth NH 
Zoning Board of Adjustment 
1 Junkins Ave 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
 
Dear Board Members,  

Thank you for your consideration of approving the variance for an 8' tall cedar board fence to replace an 
existing, dilapidated chain link fence. Due to the steep grade dip in the back of my and my neighbors’ 
properties, I’d like to improve not only the type of fence from chain link to cedar, but the height as well. 
This will create a uniform height with the existing 6’ cedar fence currently in place next to the house 
where the grade is higher, improving the aesthetic view of the property from the street by 
compensating for the dip in grade in the back of the property. 
 

• 10.233.21 - Variance will not be contrary to the public interest. 
o If approved, please note that the variance will not be contrary to public interest due to 

the location of my property which is situated on a dead-end street and is the last house. 
There are no houses immediately beside any section of the fence. 

• 10.233.22 The spirit of the Ordinance will be observed. 
o I certainly understand the need for this type of variance for front yard/street side 

fencing, or in the downtown or historic district where properties and neighbors are 
much closer together.  

o In my situation, the grade of my property as well as my neighbors’ is far steeper in the 
back yard than the front. Installing a taller fence will compensate for that grade and 
create a uniform height when viewing the property from the street or from the sides of 
the house. 

• 10.233.23 Substantial justice will be done. 
o This improvement will greatly improve the visual appeal of both me and my neighbors, 

as well as provide more privacy for all of us.  
• 10.233.24 The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished. 

o Replacing the current dilapidated chain link fence with a professionally installed cedar 
fence will most certainly improve the property value for all of us. The current fence, in 
my opinion is a bit of an eye sore. 

• 10.233.25 Literal enforcement of the provisions of the Ordinance would result in an unnecessary 
hardship. 

o My neighbor to the left is the only one within view of the back yard. She greatly 
supports the fence replacement as it will improve her backyard privacy and curb appeal 
as well.  











City of Portsmouth, NH March 7, 2023

Property Information

Property ID 0218-0007-0000
Location 55 MANGROVE ST
Owner KNIGHT MICHAEL G

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no warranties,
expressed or implied, concerning the validity or accuracy of
the GIS data presented on this map.

Geometry updated 09/21/2022
Data updated 3/9/2022

Print map scale is approximate.
Critical layout or measurement
activities should not be done using
this resource.

1" = 50.68374355409052 ft

Replace existing fence highlighted in yellow. The new fence will be 8 feet tall in order to compensate
for the 2 foot drop in grade from the front of the house.

98 feet

89 feet

60 feet

mknight
Highlight



16  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 

D. The request of John T McDonald III and Mary R McDonald (Owners), for 
property located at 74 Sunset Road whereas relief is needed for an addition 
of a chimney bump out which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 
10.521 to allow a) a 6.5 foot left yard where 10 feet is required; and b) 26.6% 
building coverage where 20% is required. 2)  A Variance from Section 10.321 
to allow a nonconforming building or structure to be expanded, reconstructed, 
or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. Said 
property is located on Assessor Map 153 Lot 14 and lies within the Single 
Residence B (SRB) District. (LU-22-182) 

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing 

 
Proposed 
 

Permitted / Required  

Land Use Single 
family 

New front porch 
And connector 
to garage 

Primarily residential  

Lot area (sq. ft.):  8,936 8,936 15,000 min. 
Lot Area per Dwelling 
Unit (sq. ft.): 

8,936 8,936 15,000 min. 

Lot depth (ft): 110 110 100  min. 
Street Frontage (ft.):  80 80 100  min. 
Primary Front Yard 
(ft.): 

24 16* prior 
variance 
granted 

30  min. 

Right  Yard (ft.): 9 6.5 10  min. 
Left  Yard (ft.): 8 8 10 
Rear Yard (ft.): 41 41 30 min. 
Height (ft.): <35 <35 35 max. 
Building Coverage (%): 23 26.6 (26.5 

previously 
approved) 

20 max. 

Open Space Coverage 
(%): 

66 64 40 min. 

Parking: 2 2 2  
Estimated Age of 
Structure: 

1959  Variance request(s) shown in red. 
 

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
• Building Permit 

  



17  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 
 

  

Aerial Map 

Zoning Map 



18  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
September 27, 2022 – Relief from Zoning Ordinance including: 

1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow a) a 16 foot front yard where 30' is 
required; and b) 26.5% building coverage where 20% is required. 

2) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming building or structure to 
be expanded, reconstructed or enlarged without conforming to the requirements 
of the Ordinance. 

Board voted to grant the request as presented. 

Planning Department Comments 
As shown in the history above, the applicant was before the Board this past summer with a 
proposal to improve the and expand the existing structure. During the construction and 
inspection process it was discovered that a portion of the addition was not in compliance 
with plans approved by the BOA at the September 27, 2022 meeting. The applicants latest 
request will rectify this error.  

Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

(a) The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist 

between the general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific 
application of that provision to the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 
Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict 
conformance with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a 
reasonable use of it. 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance. 
  













EXHIBIT A 

MWhelan
Highlight



EXHIBIT B

MWhelan
Highlight



EXHIBIT C

MWhelan
Highlight







EXHIBIT D

MWhelan
Highlight



EXHIBIT E

MWhelan
Highlight







2/27/23, 1:09 PM about:blank

about:blank 1/2

CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 
Planning Department

1 Junkins Avenue
Portsmouth, New

Hampshire 03801 
(603) 610-7216

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
September 29, 2022

John T. McDonald III & Mary R. McDonald
74 Sunset Road
Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801

RE: Board of Adjustment request for property located at 74 Sunset Road (LU-22-182)

Dear Property Owners:

The Zoning Board of Adjustment, at its regularly scheduled meeting of Tuesday, September
27, 2022, considered your application for the addition of a  front porch, front dormer and
connection to garage which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to allow
a) a 16 foot front yard where 30' is required; and b) 26.5% building coverage where 20% is
required.  2)  A Variance from Section 10.321  to allow a nonconforming building or structure
to be expanded, reconstructed or enlarged without conforming to the requirements of the
Ordinance.  Said property is shown on Assessor Map 166 Lot 36 and lies within the Single
Residence B (SRB) district.  As a result of said consideration, the Board voted to grant the
request as presented with the enclosed Findings of Fact.

The Board's decision may be appealed up to thirty (30) days after the vote.  Any action taken
by the applicant pursuant to the Board's decision during this appeal period shall be at the
applicant's risk. Please contact the Planning Department for more details about the appeals
process.

Approvals may also be required from other City Commissions or Boards.  Once all required
approvals have been received, applicant is responsible for applying for and securing a
building permit from the Inspection Department prior to starting any project work.

This approval shall expire unless a building permit is issued within a period of two (2) years
from the date granted unless an extension is granted in accordance with Section 10.236 of
the Zoning Ordinance.

The minutes and audio recording of this meeting are available by contacting the Planning
Department.

Very truly yours,

Arthur Parrott, Chairman of the Zoning Board of Adjustment

EXHIBIT F

MWhelan
Highlight



2/27/23, 1:09 PM about:blank

about:blank 2/2

cc: Shanti Wolph, Chief Building Inspector

Rosann Maurice-Lentz, City Assessor

R. Timothy Phoenix, Hoefle, Phoenix, Gormley & Roberts, PLLC
Eric Weinrieb, Altus Engineering, Inc.



EXHIBIT G

MWhelan
Highlight







19  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 
E. The request of Joshua Wyatt and Erin Hichman (Owners), for property 

located at 196 Aldrich Road whereas relief is needed to demolish existing 
garage and construct new garage and construct new addition over existing 
side porch which requires the following: 1) Variances from Section 10.521 to 
allow a) a secondary front yard of 3 feet where 30 feet is required; b) a 6 foot 
rear setback where 10 feet 7 inches is required; c) 23% building coverage 
where 20% is the maximum allowed. 2) A Variance from Section 10.571 to 
allow and accessory structure to be 10 feet from the front lot line and located 
in the front yard. 3) A Variance from Section 10.321 to allow a nonconforming 
building or structure to be extended, reconstructed, or enlarged without 
conforming to the requirements of the Ordinance. Said property is located on 
Assessor Map 153 Lot 25 and lies within the Single Residence B (SRB) 
District. (LU-23-24) 

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing  

  
Proposed  
  

Permitted / 
Required  

  

Land Use:   Single Unit 
Residential 

Addition to primary 
structure and 
reconstruction of 
garage  

Single Residential 
Uses  

  

Lot area (sq. ft.):   5,850 5,850 15,000 min.  
Lot Area per Dwelling  
Unit (sq. ft.):  

5,850 5,850 15,000 min.  

Frontage (ft.); 167 167 100  min. 
Lot depth (ft.):   117 117 100 min.  
Primary Front Yard (ft.):  23.5 23.5 30 max.  
Secondary Front Yard (ft.):  3.8 3 (primary 

structure) 
9.75 (garage) 

30 min.  

Right Yard (ft.):  4.6 
(garage) 

11.8 10 min.  

Rear Yard (ft.):  29 6 10’ 7” (accessory 
structure setback) 

min.  

Height (ft.):  25.2 32.5 35 max.  
Building Coverage (%):  21 23 20 max.  
Open Space Coverage (%):  >40 >40 40 min.  
Parking  2 2 2   
Estimated Age of Structure:  1920 Variance request(s) shown in red.  

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
• Building Permit  



20  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 

 

Aerial Map 



21  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
February 19, 2008 – The Board granted a Variance from Section 10-208(54)(b) to allow a 
12’ x 20’ exterior produce cooler to be temporarily located during internal renovations of the  

Planning Department Comments 
The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing detached garage and construct a new 
detached garage in a different location. The new proposed location is within the rear yar and 
secondary front yard which requires relief from sections 10.571 and 10.573.20, found below. 

10.571 No accessory building, structure or use shall be located in any required front 
yard, or closer to a street than the principal building. 

10.573 In a Residential or Mixed Residential district, an accessory building or 
structure may be located in a required side yard or rear yard subject to the following:  

… 

10.573.20 An accessory building or structure more than 10 feet in height or 
more than 100 square feet in area shall be set back from any lot line at least 
the height of the building or the applicable yard requirement, whichever is less. 

Applicant is also proposing to renovate and add to the primary structure which will require 
dimensional relief from Section 10.521 (Table of Dimensional Standards, Zoning 
Ordinance). 

Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

(a) The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist between the 

general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific application of that provision to 
the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 
Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance 
with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a reasonable use of it. 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance.  

https://files.cityofportsmouth.com/files/planning/zoning/ZoningOrd-210111.pdf
https://files.cityofportsmouth.com/files/planning/zoning/ZoningOrd-210111.pdf


1 
 

MEMORANDUM SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF REQUESTED VARIANCES FOR 

JOSH WYATT AND ERIN HICHMAN (196 ALDRICH ROAD) 

 

 

Subject Property as of 3.22.23 (corner of Aldrich Road and Joffre Terrace): 

 

 

Introduction 

Preliminarily, with respect to each element of the variance test, the applicants would like to 

acknowledge that variances are essentially exceptions to the general rules of zoning, and the 

variances sought here aim to respect that proposition.  If helpful, the applicants would like to first 

provide the board with some background information about their family and use of the subject 



2 
 

property.  According to City assessing records, the subject house was built in 1920.  The 

applicants have lived in Portsmouth since 2008 and in the subject property since 2011.  The 

subject property is in a West End residential neighborhood (just behind Hannaford), on Aldrich 

Road—one of the few (or perhaps only) public roads connecting Islington Street and Middle 

Road without a stop sign, resulting in a fair amount of “cut through” vehicular traffic, rendering 

use of the front yard limited.  Both of the applicants’ children (daughters age 5 and 7) were born 

in Portsmouth.  The oldest daughter attends Dondero elementary.  The youngest daughter attends 

Seacoast Community School.  The applicants have given significant thought to the project 

necessitating the current variance requests.  Stated generally, the project is intended to essentially 

reconfigure a 1920 property that was built to suit the needs of a 1920s family, and long before 

the City enacted zoning.  The lot is small and situated in a residential neighborhood.  As our 

family has grown, and as we have probably all realized with the recent pandemic, there is an 

acute need to improve and reconfigure the property, such that the applicants can stay in the house 

(and keep the neighbors) we have grown to love, while planning for the future, which may 

involve accommodating aging live-in parents.  The applicants have worked with a local, 

professional designer to create and refine a plan that is professional and in keeping with the 

neighborhood and the City generally.  The applicants have discussed the proposed project with 

the direct abutters at 1 Joffre Terrace, 2 Joffre Terrace, and 178 Aldrich Road, with no opposition.     

Public Interest: 

Granting the requested variances will not be contrary to the public interest because the resulting 

structures (and reconfiguration of the subject property) will, if anything, add value to the City’s 

tax base with no adverse consequences.  See RSA 674:33, I(a)(2)(A).  There is an existing garage 

on the property (preexisting, nonconforming) and the proposal is essentially to demolish that and 

rebuild a new substitute structure (single-car garage) on the other side of the property.  Enclosing 

the existing porch is consistent with many other homes in the area (creating a “mud room” on the 

ground floor).  The proposed additional lot coverage is negligible (an increase of 1.7% from the 

current lot coverage of 21%) and this renovation is expected to result in significant “green” 

environmental benefits by tightening up the building envelope.  The resulting construction will 

not have any meaningful impact on the intensity of use (it will remain a single-family home with 

only slightly more interior square footage), nor will it increase the noise, traffic, or harm the 

neighborhood’s aesthetics.  See Vannah v. Bedford, 111 N.H. 105 (1971).  In sum, nothing in the 

proposed variances “unduly, and in a marked degree” conflicts with Portsmouth’s zoning.  See 

Chester Rod & Gun Club, Inc. v. Town of Chester, 152 N.H. 577, 581 (2005) (“any variance 

would in some measure be contrary [to the provisions of the zoning ordinance]. . . .  Thus, to be 

contrary to the public interest or injurious to the public rights of others, the variance must unduly, 

and in a marked degree conflict with the ordinance such that it violates the ordinance’s basic 

zoning objectives.” (quotations omitted)). 

Spirit of Ordinance: 

Granting the requested variances will observe and respect the spirit of Portsmouth’s zoning 

ordinance.  See RSA 674:33, I(a)(2)(B); see also 15 New Hampshire Practice, Land Use 

Planning and Zoning § 24.12.  In general terms, zoning is intended to promote the “health, 



3 
 

safety, or the general welfare of the community.”  RSA 674:16, I.  Portsmouth’s zoning ordinance 

embodies several varied objectives, including meeting “the hierarchy of present and future 

human needs fairly and efficiently.”  Portsmouth Zoning Ordinance § 10.122(4). In addition, the 

City’s zoning ordinance aims to promote the City’s Master Plan, see Portsmouth Zoning 

Ordinance § 10.121.  This proposed project will contribute to the vibrancy called out in the 2025 

Master Plan, as well as “complement[] and enhance[] its surroundings,” see 2025 Master Plan 

Goal 2.1.  Goals 3.1 and 3.3 of the 2025 Master Plan also recognize the need to update and adapt 

the City’s housing stock to accommodate changing demographics and changing needs of the 

economy, which would include increased instances of professionals working from home (and 

with children).  The requested variances respect the zoning objectives of the City of Portsmouth 

and do not propose a use or resulting structures out of step with the residential area or the City 

generally.  The requested variances are minor in scope and consistent with the vision and 

objectives for the West End stated in the City’s 2025 Master Plan.   

Substantial Justice: 

Granting the requested variances will do substantial justice based on the circumstances of this 

matter.  See RSA 674:33, I(a)(2)(C).  Some authority frames the analysis as “any loss to the 

individual that is not outweighed by a gain to the general public is an injustice.”  15 New 

Hampshire Practice, Land Use Planning and Zoning § 24.11 (quotation omitted).  This tips well 

in favor of the applicants’ requested variances.  The requested variances envision a project that is 

consistent with the characteristics of the neighborhood, see Labreque v. Salem, 128 N.H. 455 

(1986).  The variances, if granted, would shift the focus of the property’s small backyard away 

from the public streets (and salt/stormwater runoff) and enhance privacy and safety.  Denying the 

variances would not result in a gain to the general public.    

Values of Surrounding Properties: 

Granting the requested variances will not diminish the value of surrounding properties because 

the resulting structures will not increase noise, traffic, or the aesthetics, nor meaningfully change 

the intensity of use (property will remain a single-family home with only slightly more interior 

square footage).  See RSA 674:33, I(a)(2)(D); Farrar v. City of Keene, 158 N.H. 684 (2009).  

Based on our experience living in this neighborhood since 2011, projects that have updated and 

improved the appearance, functionality, or both have had an aggregate positive impact on 

property values.  The applicants have pride of ownership and respect the effects of using their 

property on our neighbors.  There is a lawful existing garage on the property (preexisting, 

nonconforming) and the proposal is essentially to relocate (and rebuild it) more toward the other 

side of the property.  The direct abutter behind our property has an existing fence in place and 

both houses on Joffre Terrace are at a higher elevation, meaning the proposed new garage will 

not be imposing.  Enclosing the existing porch and building up will have no negative effect on 

surrounding properties and, if anything, would increase property values by adding value to the 

subject property.   

 

 



4 
 

Unnecessary Hardship: 

Failure to grant the requested variances would result in unnecessary hardship because the subject 

property has several features that create the need for relief from the zoning ordinances in order 

for a family to make the best residential use of the property.  See RSA 674:33, I(a)(2)(E).  This is 

especially true given unique features of this property.  See Boccia v. City of Portsmouth, 151 

N.H. 85, 92 (2004) (observing as a factor consideration of “whether an area variance is needed to 

enable the applicant’s proposed use of the property given the special conditions of the property”), 

superseded by statute by Laws 2009, ch. 307.   

This property is uniquely situated on the corner of two public streets, creating a primary and 

secondary road setback on two sides.  As mentioned above, the subject property is in a residential 

neighborhood on Aldrich Road (running behind Hannaford)—one of the few (or perhaps only) 

public roads connecting Islington Street and Middle Road without a stop sign, resulting in a fair 

amount of “cut through” vehicular traffic, rendering use of the front yard limited.  The lots in this 

neighborhood are generally small, preexisting, and nonconforming, which long predated the 

City’s zoning ordinance.  While the 20% lot coverage requirement is arguably generous for a 

property that has the current minimum lot size of 15,000 square feet, the subject property’s lot is 

significantly smaller (about 1/3rd) than the current minimum lot size, magnifying the 20% 

coverage limitation and its constraint on use.  As a result, the features of the property create a 

need to (i) rearrange the garage in relation to the streets to create a more protected and private 

backyard for their growing kids and family use, which also results in a backyard that is away 

from the utility/power lines that run up Joffre Terrace1; and (ii) enables reconfiguration of 

interior space to modernize the residential home.   

The property also lacks certain features (such as a first-floor bathroom) that make it difficult to 

house aging parents, and the owners have parents in their 80s who may need to reside in the 

house in the near future.  The applicants have taken care to plan an addition within the existing 

footprint of the current house (including its side porch, which would become enclosed with a 

foundation), and are limited in options because the property has (1) an interior staircase that cuts 

through one “bedroom” and makes that “bedroom” functionally limited, and (2) an existing 

chimney in the middle of the house that limits the use of interior finished space.   

The proposed renovation/construction for this project is generally aimed at creating a residential 

home suited to needs of a modern family (including housing children, increasingly working from 

home, and possibly housing aging parents).  See Boccia, 151 N.H. at 93 (“In other words, 

assuming that the landowner’s plans are for a permitted use, but special conditions of the 

property make it difficult or impossible to comply with applicable setbacks or other restrictions, 

then the area variances might be necessary from a practical perspective to implement the 

proposed plan.”); Rancourt v. City of Manchester, 149 N.H. 51 (2003) (special conditions of 

property made variance to allow a barn reasonable); Husnander v. Town of Barnstead, 139 N.H. 

 
1 Approximately two years ago, a fallen branch from a tree on the other side of Joffre Terrace pulled those power 

lines down into the applicants’ driveway during a snowstorm and snapped a utility pole at the corner of the 

applicants’ property. 



5 
 

476 (1995) (unusual building envelope and present of ledge on lot created unnecessary hardship 

with respect to proposed renovation).    

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Joshua M. Wyatt 

/s/ Erin N. Hichman 

 

March 22, 2023 

Enclosures (below and plans attached) 

  



6 
 

For further historical reference, see excerpt of Plan #0643 (Rockingham County Registry of 

Deeds), 1929 Plan of Westfield Park: 

 

 

See also earlier 1917 Plan, Plan #0233, excerpted below: 

 



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-01Cover Sheet
n/a

Variance Submittal for Additions to
The Hichman - Wyatt Residence

196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801
March 22, 2023

02/27/23; 02/28/23; 03/03/23; 03/08/23; 03/19/23;

Application for a Variance to permit the following:

Residence: The removal of the existing side porch, and in it's location the construction of a three story addition. 
The removal of the existing third story roof and it's reconstruction on raised perimeter walls.
 
New Garage: Demolish current garage and build new garage in different location. 
 
Variances requested:

1)    A variance from Section 10.321 (Nonconforming Buildings and Structures) to
 

a.    Allow a lawful nonconforming building (residence) to be extended and enlarged.
b.    Allow a lawful nonconforming building (garage) to be reconstructed without all the regulations in 
       which it is located.

2)    Variances from Section 10.521 (Table of Dimensional Relief Standards) to allow construction with the 
following parameters:

a.     A secondary front yard setback of approximately 3’-11" where 30’ is required and 3’-10"
       is existing.
b.     A rear yard setback of approximately 6’ where 10'-7" is required and 28’ is existing. 
c.     Building coverage of 22.7% where 20% is allowed.

3)    A variance from Section 10.571 (No accessory building, structure or use shall be located in any required 
front yard, or closer to a street than the principal building) to allow construction of a new garage with the 
following parameters:

a.     A secondary front yard setback of 9’-9" where 30’ is required.

Location Map

Location of property
196 Aldrich Road, 
Portsmouth NH 03801, 
Tax Map 153, Lot 25. 

List of Drawings

AD-01 COVER SHEET & LOCATION MAP
AD-02 EXISTING PLOT PLAN
AD-03 PROPOSED PLOT PLAN
AD-04 EXISTING & PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS @ BASEMENT
AD-05 EXISTING & PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS @ FIRST FLOOR
AD-06 EXISTING & PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS @ SECOND FLOOR
AD-07 EXISTING & PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS @ THIRD
AD-08 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS EAST & NORTH 
AD-09 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS WEST & SOUTH
AD-10 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS NEW GARAGE
AD-11 SUMMARY  FIVE CRITERIA

227.5'

'

109.03'

24.87'

100'

48
'

52
'

87'

115'

70'

136'

137.2'

45.77'

115'

70
.3

3'

48.35'

16
9.

87
'

50'

85'

91.8'

175'

20'
47'

50'

175'

72
.6

1'

10'

20'

86.98'

95.85'

50'

73
.2

'

203.6'

64.22'

50'

60'

69'

73.63'

81.98'

65.59'

69.03'

82'

108.3'

100'

85'

115'

50'

50'

75'

60.33'

50'

50'

167'

80'

284'

85'

71
'

23
'

3'

100'

28'

10
1.

27
'

128.27'

105'

75'50'

198'

91.75'

83
'

85'

50'

76.6'

15'

167'

50'

96.5'
45'

100'

68.8'

54
.6

'

228.7'

80
'

194.3'

53
'

11
0'

88.4'

19
3'

68'

31.7'

84.5'

12
5'

17
0'

88.6'

146.7'

39.47'

11
5'

27.7'

26'

100'

160'

15
5'

100'

110.76'

54'

110'

92.5'

102.5'

39
.5

'

93.8'12
0'

57
.89

'

211.66'

68'

40.7'

50'

102'

15'

80'100.2'

60'

25'

100'

97.5'

87.5'

178'

10
6'

1.45'

58'

50'

100'

10
5.

81
'

171'

62.98'

100'

42.5'

77.9'

75.13'

80'

20'

50'

50'

12
5.

74
'

7'

87.5'

21.09'

55.67'

104'

100.00'

169.21' 61'

69.80'

93'

60'

170'

14
7'

34.65'

60.53'

92.5'

75'

170'

75'

111'

115.11'

80'

179' 213.49'

103.55'

43.52'

15'

462'

69.8'

171'

174'

50'

103.5'

53
'

186'

50'
50'

101'

58
'

10
3.

04
'

52.5'

3'

10
6.

5'

18
0'

(D
)

40'

91'

115'

45.95'

118.3'

79
'

145.96'

75'

117'

75'

67'

45.95'

97
.7

9'

90.05'

35'

99.87'

89.94'

97.7'

11
0'

17
8.

96
'

149'

23
2.

8'

53'

30'

80'

85'

40'

20'

96.69'

50'

50'

1.45'

19.46'

50'

50'

54.89'

47.42'

100'

83.00'

70'

100'

204.78'

11
6.2

'

75'

75.16'

117'

198'

11
8.

6'

10
8.

63
'

49'

61'

88.6'

57
.73'

54
'

78
.2

5'

55
.8

0'

75'

50'

130'

121.2'

156'

50'

50'

50
'

4'

47.1'

78.5'

151.86'

89.2'

95.1'

50'

50'

60'

155.25'

80.12'

41.4'

91
.8'

10'

65'

100'

118.3'

100'

78
'

111'

441.68'

115'

78.5'

151'

173'

80'

78.8'

80'

117'

269.67'

50'

89.6'

77
'

75'

100'

75'

11
0.

71
'

85.74'

63.50'

50'

77.5'

99
.3

3'

119.46'

80.12'

72.5' 20'
105.9'

95'

11.99'

177'

170'

182'

175'

50.2'

75'

117'

50'

50'

50'

125'

49'

100.05'

50'

50'

60'

171'

50'

39
.5

'

50'

60
.4

'

103.52'

145.48'

104.5'

90'

63.79'

60'

50'

142'

40'

104'

14
7'

89
.3

3'

85'

42.5'

130'

117.2'

36.3'

100'

50'

93'

60'

25'

109'

11
0.

76
'

58'
60.6'

78.14'

146'

50'

90'

60'

65'

105.87'

100'

103.1'

56.7'

62.2'

99.33'

77
.0

4'

44
.0

4'

45'

85'

155'

118.5'

73
'

32.1'

48
'

100'

50'

50'

50'

86.98'

84.21'

55
.3

1'

85'

75'

63
'

60'

533.30'

108.94'

64.89'

44.8'

60.5'

80'

80
'

101.2'

45'

7'

10'

138.40'

170.05'

100'

100'

60'

125'

58'

85'

47'

38
.6

'

104.5'

47
.5

'

339.67

75'

50'
50'

100'

64.15'

117'

50'

50'

95'

43.6'

11
5.4

'

47'

7'

66
'

11
8.

69
'

10
4.

81
'

70'

75'

100'

89
.3

3'

100'

100'

75'

190'

115.9'

70'

120'

120'

60'

58'

60'

42.57'

47.15'

120'

91.02'91.02'

21.26'

31
'

204

224

30

25

39

110

234

121

130

170

213

66

90

161

181

32

151 139

33

815

34

25

261

36
35

55

191

2

341

47

31

196

75

277

46

31

178

85

171

245

317

325

73

795

736

40
28

796

29
69

31

214

99

245

303

335

76

816

726

97

265

251

277

74

748

19
39

774

55

15

101

129

1

50

B
O

SS
A

V
E

LINCOLN AVE

CHEVROLET AVE

THAXTER RD

A
LD

R
IC

H
 C

T

JO
FF

R
E

 T
E

R

M
ID

D
LE

ST

ALDRICH RD

SUNSET RD

148-22-2

154-1-A

152-
41

152-
40

152-
39

152-
38

148-
26

148-
22

148-
21

148-
23

148-
25

152-
44

148-
24

152-
42

167-
2

167-
1

166-
11

166-
10

166-
8

166-
9

166-
7

147-
18

148-
27 148-

28

152-
37

167-
3

167-
4

152-
35

152-
36

166-
19

166-
18

14
0.207 ac 13

0.215 ac

12
0.176 ac 11

0.185 ac

41
0.096 ac

42
0.071 ac

43
0.093 ac

5
0.624 ac

6
0.444 ac

7
0.242 ac

25
0.134 ac

9
(0.856

ac)

1
0.289 ac

8
0.494 ac

10
0.244 ac

32
0.216 ac

33
0.221 ac

34
0.226 ac

29
0.203 ac 30

0.207 ac
31

0.211 ac

27
0.134 ac 26

0.134 ac

28
0.196 ac

28-1
0.207 ac

4
0.404 ac 3

0.396 ac 2
0.294 ac

39
0.152 ac

35
0.230 ac

36
0.222 ac

37
(0.396

ac) 38
0.433 ac

40
0.169 ac

44
0.193 ac

15
0.179 ac

24
0.262 ac

22
0.253 ac 21

0.253 ac

16
0.177 ac 17

0.173 ac

23
0.117 ac 20

0.135 ac

18
0.163 ac 19

0.176 ac

Tax Map
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

2022

  This map is for assessment purposes only.  It
is not intended for legal description or conveyance.
  Parcels are mapped as of April 1.
  Building footprints are 2006 data and may not
represent current structures.
  Streets appearing on this map may be paper
(unbuilt) streets.
  Lot numbers take precedence over address
numbers.  Address numbers shown on this map
may not  represent posted or legal addresses.

154

149

153

152

146

148

147

167

166

155

230 168

165

151

156

150
132

145

º

Map Location

Nearby Tax Maps

Partial Legend
See the cover sheet for the complete legend.

Water boundary

Parcel/ROW boundary

Parcel/Parcel boundary

Structure (1994 data)

7-5A Lot or lot-unit number

23 Address number

SIMS AVE Street name

2.56 ac Parcel area in acres (ac) or square feet (sf)

Parcel from a neighboring map
(see other map for current status)

68' Parcel line dimension

Parcel covered by this map

233-137 Parcel number from a neighboring map

153

0 10050 Feet

0 4020 Meters



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-02Existing Plot Plan
1" = 20'-0"

Variance Submittal for Additions to
The Hichman - Wyatt Residence

196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801
March 22, 2023

02/27/23; 02/28/23; 03/03/23; 03/08/23; 03/19/23;

dn

NOTE:
THIS PLOT PLAN WAS DRAWN FROM INFORMATION GATHERED 
OFF THE OFFICIAL TAX MAP & MAPGEO INFORMATION.
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE VERIFIED IN FIELD.

Aldrich Road

living room hall

dining room

kitchen

garage

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

30'-0"10'-0"

lot 153-25: 5,850 sq ft

existing residence footprint:  983 sq ft 

existing garage footprint:  242 sq ft 

existing o.a. footprint:  1,225 sq ft

existing lot coverage:  21.0 %

existing lot coverage 
if lot were 15,000 sq ft:  8.2%

SRB zoning requirements:

min lot size: 15,000 sq ft

front yard : 30'
side yard : 10'
rear yard: 30'
building coverage 20%
minimum open space 40%

9'-9"

4'-8"

29
'-1

"
50'-0"

patio
USABLE & 
OBSERVABLE 
BACKYARD

RETAINING 
WALL

23
'-4

"

City of Portsmouth, NH November 26, 2021

196 Aldric h

Property Information

Property ID 0153-0025-0000
Location 196 ALDRICH RD
Owner WYATT JOSHUA M

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no warranties,
expressed or implied, concerning the validity or accuracy of
the GIS data presented on this map.

Geometry updated 4/1/2019
Data updated 7/17/2019

Print map scale is approximate.
Critical layout or measurement
activities should not be done using
this resource.

1" = 40 ft

3'-10"

11'-10"

drive way

Jo
ffr

e 
Te

rr
ac

e

11
7'

-0
"

CONCRETE 
PAD & 
STEPS



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-03Proposed Plot Plan
1" = 20'-0"

Variance Submittal for Additions to
The Hichman - Wyatt Residence

196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801
March 22, 2023

02/27/23; 02/28/23; 03/03/23; 03/08/23; 03/19/23;

up

dn

NOTE:
THIS PLOT PLAN WAS DRAWN FROM INFORMATION GATHERED 
OFF THE OFFICIAL TAX MAP & MAPGEO INFORMATION.
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE VERIFIED IN FIELD.

Aldrich Road

Jo
ffr

e 
Te

rr
ac

e

11
7'

-0
"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

30'-0"10'-0"

9'-9"

50'-0"

new 

garage
14' 0" x 24' 0"

336 Sq ft

3'-11"

lot 153-25: 5,850 sq ft

proposed residence footprint:  994 sq ft 

proposed garage footprint:  336 sq ft 

proposed o.a. footprint:  1,330 sq ft

proposed lot coverage:  22.7 %

proposed lot coverage 
if lot were 15,000 sq ft:  8.9%

SRB zoning requirements:

min lot size: 15,000 sq ft

front yard : 30'
side yard : 10'
rear yard: 30'
building coverage 20%
minimum open space 40%

patio

6'
-0

"
24

'-0
"

patio
USABLE & 
OBSERVABLE 
BACKYARD

RETAINING 
WALL

City of Portsmouth, NH November 26, 2021

196 Aldric h

Property Information

Property ID 0153-0025-0000
Location 196 ALDRICH RD
Owner WYATT JOSHUA M

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no warranties,
expressed or implied, concerning the validity or accuracy of
the GIS data presented on this map.

Geometry updated 4/1/2019
Data updated 7/17/2019

Print map scale is approximate.
Critical layout or measurement
activities should not be done using
this resource.

1" = 40 ft

23
'-4

"

hall

kitchen

new 
mud
room

living room

dining room

9'-9"

powder

pantry

driveway

11'-10"
NEW 
CONCRETE 
PAD & STEPS



1/4" = 1'-0"
Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-04Basement Floor Plans
1/8" = 1'-0"February 27, 2023

Variance Submittal for Additions to
The Hichman - Wyatt Residence

196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

dn

up

storage

Existing Proposed

crawl space

new play room

bath

storage

crawl space



1/4" = 1'-0"
Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-05
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

First Floor Plans
1/8" = 1'-0"February 27, 2023

up

dn

up

dn

fridge

living room hall

dining room

kitchen

closet

fire place

living room hall

dining room

kitchen

closet

fire place

new 
mudroom

powder

pantry

front porch

side porch

front porch

Existing Proposed



1/4" = 1'-0"
Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-06February 27, 2023
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Second Floor Plans
1/8" = 1'-0"

up

dn

up

dn

MODELNUMBER TRADENAME PRODUCT MATERIAL MODELNUMBER TRADENAME PRODUCT MATERIAL

Existing Proposed

office

hall

bedroom #1

master bedroom

master bath
bath

closet

closet

closet

his office 

hall

bedroom #1

bedroom #2

bath

closet

closet

closet

bath laundry



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-07
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Third Floor Plans
1/8" = 1'-0"February 27, 2023

dn dn

MODELNUMBER TRADENAME PRODUCT MATERIALMODELNUMBER TRADENAME PRODUCT MATERIAL

Existing Proposed

play room

hall

storage
closet

hall

linen 
closet

w.i.c.

her office 

w.i.c.

new master bedroom

new 
master 

bath



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-08
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Exterior Elevation East & North
3/16" = 1'-0"February 27, 2023

EXISTING HT: 25'-2"

2ND FLOOR 
LEVEL

1ST FLOOR 
LEVEL

AVERAGE 
GRADE

3RD FLOOR 
LEVEL

32
'-6

"

2'
-1

1"
8'

-1
0"

8'
-7

" 36
'-3

"



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-09February 27, 2023
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Exterior Elevation West & South
3/16" = 1'-0"

32
'-6

"

2ND FLOOR 
LEVEL

1ST FLOOR 
LEVEL

AVERAGE 
GRADE

3RD FLOOR 
LEVEL

2'
-1

1"
8'

-1
0"

8'
-7

"

EXISTING HT: 25'-2"

36
'-3

"



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-10February 27, 2023
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Garage Elevations
3/16" = 1'-0"

March 3, 2023

East

South

North

East @ Joffre Terrace 1/16" = 1'-0"

13
'-1

" +
/-

10
'-7

" +
/-

1'
-1

1"

4'
-3

"

3'
-7

"

2'
-3

"

1'
-1

"

4"

5'-0"5'-0"5'-0"5'-0"4'-0"



Issue date:
Revision dates:copyright  ©

Scale: AD-11February 27, 2023
Variance Submittal for Additions to

The Hichman - Wyatt Residence
196 Aldrich Road, Portsmouth NH 03801

Summary
n/a

Five Criteria Summary


• The variance will not be contrary to the public interest. 
The proposed addition and new garage will not alter the essential 
character of the neighborhood. The proposed exterior improvements will 
actually enhance the character of the neighborhood.

• The spirit of the ordinance will be observed.
The proposed addition and new garage will improve the performance and 
look of the property.

•  Substantial Justice will be done.
The house in it's current configuration is simply inadequate for a family 
raising two young children. The proposed addition and renovation creates 
separate bedrooms for the children, a new master suite, laundry, two 
offices and a mudroom, which will allow the owners to raise their family in 
a home adapted for 21st century living.
The proposed garage relocation and reconstruction creates a back yard 
that is more usable and observable.

• The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished. 
The proposed addition and new garage will add value to the property and 
thereby increase the value of the surrounding homes.

• Literal enforcement of the provisions of the Ordinance would result 
in unnecessary hardship.
Literal enforcement would prevent the owners from raising their family in 
fully functional 21st century home.

196 & 204 Aldrich Road

178 Aldrich Road



22  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

II. OLD BUSINESS 
F. The request of Murdock Living Trust (Owner), for property located at 15 

Lafayette Road whereas relief is needed to subdivide one lot into two lots 
which requires the following: 1) A Variance from Section 10.521 to allow 73.8 
feet of continuous street frontage where 100 feet is required for the remainder 
lot. Said property is located on Assessor Map 152 Lot 2 and lies within the 
General Residence A (GRA) and Historic District. (LU-23-26) 

Existing & Proposed Conditions 
 Existing  

  
Proposed  
  

Permitted / Required    

Land Use: Single-family Subdivide into 2 lots Primarily residential  

  Lot 1  
(152-4)         

Lot 2 
(152-4-1) 

   

Lot area (sq. ft.): 17,301 9,126 8,172 7,500 min.  
Lot Area per Dwelling  
Unit (sq. ft.):  

17,301 9,126 8,172 7,500 min.  

Street Frontage (ft.): 73.8 73.8 102.3 100 min.  
Lot depth (ft.)  257 124.7 108.06 70 min.  
Front Yard (ft.): >15 >15 15 15 min.  
Left Yard (ft.): 3.7 3.7 10 10 min.  
Right Yard (ft.): 9 9 10 10 min.  

Rear Yard (ft.): >20 20 20 20 min.  
Height (ft.): <35 <35 N/A 35 max.  
Building Coverage 
(%):  

9.6 18.5 0 25 max.  

Open Space 
Coverage (%):  

>30 >30.7 100 30 min.  

Parking  2 2 N/A 2   
Estimated Age of 
Structure:  

1942 Variance request(s) shown in red.  
  

 

Other Permits/Approvals Required 
• Subdivision Approval – TAC/Planning Board 

  



23  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Neighborhood Context  

 
 

 

Aerial Map 



24  

                                                                                          April 18, 2023 Meeting 

Previous Board of Adjustment Actions 
No previous BOA history found. 

Planning Department Comments 
The applicant is requesting relief to subdivide the existing lot into two lots. The applicant has 
not yet proposed any construction on proposed lot 152-4-1 so the open space calculation is 
100%, building coverage is 0%, and the building height and parking are not applicable.  The 
proposed vacant lot shows a building envelope where a new dwelling could be built and 
conform to the zoning requirements without the need for relief.   

Variance Review Criteria 
This application must meet all five of the statutory tests for a variance (see Section 10.233 
of the Zoning Ordinance): 

1. Granting the variance would not be contrary to the public interest. 
2. Granting the variance would observe the spirit of the Ordinance. 
3. Granting the variance would do substantial justice. 
4. Granting the variance would not diminish the values of surrounding properties. 
5. The “unnecessary hardship” test: 

(a) The property has special conditions that distinguish it from other properties in the area. 
AND 
(b) Owing to these special conditions, a fair and substantial relationship does not exist 

between the general public purposes of the Ordinance provision and the specific 
application of that provision to the property; and the proposed use is a reasonable one. 
OR 
Owing to these special conditions, the property cannot be reasonably used in strict 
conformance with the Ordinance, and a variance is therefore necessary to enable a 
reasonable use of it. 

10.235 Certain Representations Deemed Conditions 
Representations made at public hearings or materials submitted to the Board by an 
applicant for a special exception or variance concerning features of proposed buildings, 
structures, parking or uses which are subject to regulations pursuant to Subsection 10.232 
or 10.233 shall be deemed conditions upon such special exception or variance. 

 














































	04-18-2023_boa_ag
	3-21-2023 BOA Minutes_SC_edits_amended_JB
	3-29-2023 BOA Meeting Minutes_SC_edits
	Cover Page
	635 Sagamore - Staff Memo
	SagamoreAve_635_boa_03212023_10-26-22 submission
	635 Sagamore Submission Letter
	Memo
	Exhibit A - Existing Conditions Plan
	Sheets & Views
	ZBA Site Plan
	ZBA Topographic Site plan
	Exhibit B - Architectural Sketches
	First Floor Plan
	Second Floor Plan
	Foundation Plan
	Front Elevation
	Right Elevation
	Rear Elevation
	Left Elevation
	Exhibit C - Aerial View
	Photos
	Interior Views

	Exhibit D - Assessment Information
	Exhibit E - Tax Map

	Exhibit F - White Appraisal Letter

	67 Ridges Ct - Staff Memo
	RidgesCT_67_boa_03212023_final-revised
	RidgesCt_67_boa_03212023_111522_submission
	67 Ridges CT - October 11, 2022 Submission Letter
	Memo
	Existing Conditions Plan
	Variance Plan

	Exhibit B - REV.2 - Elevations/Perspectives/Plans
	North/West
	South/East
	Perspectives
	Lower Level Floor Plan
	First Flooor Plan
	Second Floor Plan

	Exhibit C - Aerial & Exterior Photos
	Tax Map
	67 Ridges CT - November 4, 2022 Submission Letter
	Exhibit E - Abutter View Shed
	Pg 1
	Pg 2
	Pg 3
	Pg 4

	Exhibit F - Keller Williams Letter
	Exhibit G - Technical Analysis Report
	Report Addenda


	RidgesCT_67_boa_03072023 submission

	55 Mangrove St - Staff Memo
	MangroveSt_55_BOA_03292023
	Cover Letter
	Variance Analysis Criteria
	Site Photos
	Site Plan

	74 Sunset Rd - Staff Memo
	SunsetRd_74_BOA_03292023
	Cover Letter
	Project Narrative
	Variance Criteria Analysis
	Plan Set
	Site Plan
	Site Plan 2

	Site Photos
	Tax Map
	Sept. 27, 2022 BOA Minutes
	Sept. 27, 2022 BOA LOD
	Letters of Support

	196 Aldrich Rd - Staff Memo
	AldrichRd_196_BOA_04182023
	Project Narrative
	Variance Criteria Analysis
	Original Subdivision Plan
	Plan Set
	Existing Site Plan
	Proposed Site Plan
	Floor Plans
	Exterior Elevations
	Variance Criteria Analysis


	15 Lafayette Rd - Staff Memo
	LafayetteRd_15_BOA_03292023
	Cover Letter
	Project Narrative
	Variance Criteria Analysis
	Plan Set
	Subdivision Plan
	Topographic Subdivision Plan

	Assessing Info
	Tax Map
	Site Photos
	Authorization Letter




